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YP&O'Ferrymast,ers'Li'mited

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their report for the year‘e'nded 31 December 2022. '

Results and Dividends
The profit for the year, after taxation amounted to £8.4m (2021: loss £O 6m). The dlrectors have not
recommended a final dividend (2021: £nil). No interim dividends were paid in the year (2021: £nil).

‘ Key Performance Indicators and Performance Review :
P&O Ferrymasters delivered an impressive set of financial results for 2022 with a sngmﬁcant 1mprovement in

) proﬁtablhty and the strengthening of the balance sheet
Overall, P&O Ferrymasters strong financial results for 2022 reflected the robust business model and efﬁcrent
operations. - : : <
The performance was underpinned by the Company’s focus on core business and strategic partnerships, with

- P&O Ferrymasters entering an agreement based joint venture with Unifeeder Shortsea - a business unit of
Unifeeder A/S. Combmmg strengths to offer an extended and broader pan-European portfoho of multimodal
transportatlon and Ioglstlcs products to BCO customers.
The company's key ﬁnancial and other performance indicators during the year were as. follows:

‘ , o Unit 2022 2021

Volumes : Loads 441,255 494,503
Turnover : : o ) . £000 . 508,743 449,382 -
Operating profit / (Ioss) 4 " £000 11,569 (63)
Profit / (loss) for the financial year . ' L - £000 8,414 (602)
Shareholders' funds =~ - . ‘ ' o £000 22,287 . 15925
Capital Expenditure - ‘ 4 © '£000 1,260 4,512
Working Capital - £000 3,487 (8,578)

. Market conditions were broadly favourable, with like-for-like revenue growth of 13.2% driven by the Asset
products and like- for-hke volumes marginally down in comparlson 10 2021 after accountmg for strateglcally
exited contracts

Post Brexit, the Company took time to adjust and maintained its disciplined approach -and continued to focus on
long-term fundamentals, incrementally addressing the challengés and ultimately overcoming the impediments
by Q4 2021. The economic recovery that began in 2021 continued in the first half of 2022. But growth then
began to slow in the second half of 2022 as inflation gained ground. The explosion in fuel costs was the main
difficulty faced in 2022. The impact of inflation led to higher diesel prices, and the i invasion of Ukraine,
. followed by restrictions on the supply of oil and gas increased pressure on prices. Inflation heavily impacted

" purchasing power and wage demands. In 2022, road transport prices rose across Europe, accompanying the
extraordinary rise in diesel fuel. In Q3 2022, transport prices were reported on average 19.6% higher than in Q3
2021. . .

" The Company remained.price competitive to retain and grow existing business.
" The Company is actively seeking synergies within the larger DP World Group. Growth oppor’tunitie‘s have been
identified and new projects lmplemented to'maximise customer service and coverages for the Global Group as a .

whole

. The Company disinvested from warehousmg and transferred operatlons in Europoort, Genk and London toDP
World compames in 2023. :

" Page '2
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P&O Fe.r_'rymasters Limited -
Strateglc Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (contmued)

The Business Strategy continued w1th focus on maximising on specnﬁc market opportunmes within each of the
four business units. Investmg in a centralised sales team, increasing the footprint of European coverage;
equipment, opening new 'value-adding services, such as warehouses, enables the Company to deliver Organic
growth and increase Geographical coverage beyond Europe. The warehouses were later disinvested in 2023.

At the same time, continuous improvements are actively sought on the Core business and client base to deliver
the desired high standard of business. The Company used a mixture of capital purchasing, long term hire and-
short-term rental to ensure the right equipment levels at the right locatlon whllst allowmg ﬂex1b111ty in times of
exceptlonal market condltlons

The Company i is well placed for 2023. Dlgmzatlon of customs documentatlon significantly reduced transit
times, made processes more efficient, reduced the admlmstratlve burden and increased asset utilisation.

Foundations for future‘su'ccess delivered in 2022 inc]ude:
« Expansion of the Multimodal concept
~» Commercial development and investment
» Expansion of the Customs Clearance functlon ‘
« Procurement function centralised
« Carrier Management expansion
* Renewal of key customer contracts
» Development of management fee contracts
+ Enhanced Operational excellence
« Enhanced Logistics development
* Investment on Trailer fleet :
* Introduction on new Train routes and upllftmg train volumes on existing routes .
« Synergies with DP World group companies

Page 3
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P&O Ferrymasters lelted

Strategic Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (contmued)

IT Based Development
The Company continues to invest in technology that improves operational efﬁcrencres delivers enhanced
customer mformatlon and ultlmately contributes to increased proﬁtablhty Key systems include:

» Fr8Manager Transport Management System - Perpetual review, two major upgrades and significant &
investment in employee training during 2022.

» Partner Gateway - 95% uptake of sub-contractors leading to more timely customer information and improved
back office efficiency.

* Successful implementation of Mlcrosoft Teams throughout the business enhancing WFH and subsequent
Hybrid working policy.

* Fleet telematics leading to real time updating, lmproved efficiency and enhanced customer lnformatlon

* Robotic Process Automation (RPA) - invested in RPA technology to automate business processes that are
predictive and repetitive activities that involve intensive manual effort.

_ * Significant changes were made within EDI to accommodate new regulatory requlrements this also mcluded

updates to communications with our Ferry & rail suppliers.
+ Comprehensive alignment with DP World IT strategy including all Cyber Secunty pollc1es and procedures.
* Significant enhancements made to Fr8Manager TMS to coincide with the Unifeeder Short Sea joint venture.

Dangerous Goods

Of the total orders placed wrth the Company in 2022, 3. 4% were classified as dangerous goods (2021 4. 1%)
33.84% of Dangerous Goods orders were booked via EDI. 27% of Dangerous Goods loads were moved only by
road (2021: 45%). 73% involved a ferry or rail journey (2021: 55%). During 2022, there were no personal

- injuries, environmental incidents or incidents requiring reporting to competent authorities as a result of our

handling dangerous goods (2021: no personal mjurles)

‘Environmental

In 2022 46% (2021: 45%) of movements on the company’s trailers and containers involved a rail journey, Wthh
demonstrates the company’s continuous drive to develop intermodal solutions for its customers. The increasing
use of intermodal rail transport is achieving substantial savings in CO2 emissions when comparing the same
distances by road. The Company is committed to building on this success with further expansion of the
intermodal service which includes services to Belgium and Netherlands to Italy, Spain, Romania, Poland and
Turkey .

Future Developments

¢ Strengthen the core business via early and continuous investment in company vrsron employees and capital.
« Procurement excellence and contractor engagement :

« Leverage the lOngthS product as 'an enabler for the Multimodal Network.

» Geographical expansion, through agreement based Joint Venture.

* Accelerate Freight sales

+ Green multimodal and emission reduction

« Continuation of the capital investment programme.

« Deliver Transformational Projects including integrated planning, asset tracking and enhancement of the

- Partner Gateway.
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P&O Ferrymasters lelted

Strateglc Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (contmued)

Sectlon 172 of the Compames Act 2006 .

The drrectors identify the Company's stakeholder as its shareholders, employees, customers, supplrers and
pension scheme members. The impact of each stakeholder is considered during the process of making strategic °
decisions. The Board meets monthly to discuss key issues, review results, approve annual budgets and internal.
controls. The directors of the Company act to promote ‘the success of the Company for the benefit of its -
members and maintain a high standard of business conduct. The directors have committed to delivering long- -
term value and-to act in the way they consider, in good faith, is most likely to promote the success of the
company for the benefit of its stakeholders as a whole and in doing so have regard, amongst other matters, to:

* the likely consequences of any decision in the long term,

" * the interests of the company’s employees '
* the need to foster the company s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others

“* the impact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment,

-* the desirability of the' company maintaining a reputation for high staridards of busmess conduct, and
* the need to act fairly as between stakeholders of the company. :

Consrstent delivery on the commitment demands effective processes of engagement wrth the full range of
stakeholders who- influence, and are impacted by, our business operatlons

The Company has a governance framework, and it is the responsibility of each Director to ensure that the
business of the Company is conducted in adherence to the rules and guidelines, both internally and with dealing .-

“with external parties. By adhering to the rules and guidelines, the Directors of the Company act to promote the
successes of the Company for the benefit of its members and maintain a high level of business conduct. The
Directors expect the employees to act in accordance with the internal policies and guidelines. Employees are
provided with the required training to perform their roles The Company also has a wellbeing commlttee and is
actively promoted throughout the Orgamsatlon : .

The directors advocate a culture of regular engagement with employees, reaching out to all staff during
townhalls, road shows, regular webinars, information blogs, newsletters, employee éngagement surveys and -
employee award events. The effect of these measures is an open dialogue across the organisation.

The reputation of the Company is held in a high regard. Health and‘Safety and Sustainability being fundamental
to the business with periodic dashboard shared at Director level, plus communicated internally, with an active
teams contmuous reviewing ex1st1ng and emerging risks for all stakeholders

The Company fosters good business relationships with suppliers, with an online platform available to share and -
upload key documentation and information. The Company actively engages with the Customer base and has the
flexibility to.adapt to theif needs and requirements. Where customers require more specific. digital products, the
Company will engage separately to ensure the customer needs are meet. The Company actrvely uses digital
platforms to share busmess updates, new services and routes. y
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© P&O Ferrymasters Limited
Strategic Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

,Prmc1pal rlsks and uncertamtles :
" We constantly monitor the potential threats and opportumtles we face to ensure that we remain re51hent and
thrive,.both reputatlonally and operatlonally

Customer Attraction and Retentiori

. As P&O Ferrymasters executes its strategy of developing and growing the multimodal service offering customer
attraction and retention risks must be mitigated. With the continued expansion into new combined areas of the
supply chain, our customer mode] has expanded. This increase in customer-base places greater focus on

-customer relationship management both in attracting new, as well as retaining ex1stmg Blue chlp organisations.

Economic risk

* The risk of i mterest rates and/or mﬂat10n havmg an adverse impact on served markets
_* The risk of increased unrealistic increases in wages or infrastructural cost impacting ‘adversely on
competitiveness of the group and its principal customers.
* The risk of adverse exchange movements. :
* The risk-of bad debts as a result of the current adverse economic chmate
* The risk of political unrest leading to economic downturn.
* » The risk of cashflow pressure due to extended customer payment terms
« The risk of unrecoverable cost incréases due to cianging legislation.

These risks are managed by innovative product sourcing and strict control costs.
. Competition risk

The dlrectors of the company and subsidiaries manage competltlon risk through close attention to customer
-service levels and product innovation. :

" Financial risk

’

The company has budgetary and financial reportmg procedures, supported by approprlate key performance
mdlcators to manage credit, liquidity and other ﬁnanmal risk. !

4 Approved by the board on 22 March 2024 and signed on its.behalf by: v

DocuSigned by:

- 91A1976F4BDF4SB‘..

.CNCaSSldy o . ' _ _ '
‘Dlrector : .
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- P&O Ferrymastere- Limited

Directors .Re'port for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their report and the fmancral statements financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022.

i

Incorporation

. The company was mcorporated on 30 July 1958. -

Directors of the company
The directors, who held office during the year and up to the date of SIgnmg the accounts were as follows

M Bog (resigned 31 March 2022)

"CN Cassrdy

ME Mulder (resrgned 31 March 2022)

GAC Tlrnmermans (resigned 31 March 2022) . L

T Runge (resigned 31 March 2022) L o ,
P Hebblethwaite (appointed 1 April 2022) ' : L
J Kristensen (appointed 1 April 2022)

P Narumanch1 Venkata Lakshmi (appointed 1 Aprll 2022)
TNlebergall (appomted 1 April 2022)

The following director was appointed after the year end:
JB Uldeerg (appointed 9 August 2023)

/ Principal actnvnty . :
The Company's principal activity durmg the year continued to be mtematlonal road and rail transport and freight

management solutions within Europe

P&O Ferrymasters L1m1ted consists of four separate tradmg Business, Umts Frerght Management, Contract
Logistics, Trailers and Intermodal. .
Polltlcal donatlons K

The Company made no political contributions or charitable donatrons during the year (2021 £nil).

Financial instruments ‘

Objectives and policies

The Company's activities expose it to a number of ﬁnancral risks’ mcludmg credit risk and cash flow risk. The

- Company does not use derlvatlve financial mstruments for speculative purposes.

Cash flow rzsk credit risk & liquidity rzsk
Cash flow risk a ‘
NN :
The Company's activities expose it prlmarlly to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates
and interest rates.

Page 7
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited
- Directors Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
Credit rislt

The Company s prmcrpal financial assets are bank balances and cash trade and other receivables, and
1nvestments

~The Company's cre_dit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables. The amounts presented in the balance
sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. All allowances for impairment is made where there is an
identified loss event whlch based on- prevrous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverablllty of the
cash ﬂows

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparties and customers. -

quuzd:ty risk

In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are avarlable for on- gomg operatlons and future
- developments, the company uses short-term debt f inance. .

Further details regarding hqurdrty risk can be found in the statement of accounting polrcres in the Fmancral
Statements.

Employment of disabled persons- :

Contacts are maintained with Disablement Resettlement Offices with a view to ensuring full and fair
consideration of any disabled applicant for employment. The company endeavours to retain any existing
employee who may become disabled, providing specialised training where appropriate. If modified or additional
facilities are needed for a disabled employee, all reasonable steps are taken to provide them.

Employee involvement ‘ ' ,
The company recognises the need to keep employees informed and encourages identification with their
employer. Employees are kept mformed by regular updates on the company intranet.

Internal training courses have been developed and induction training allows new employees to. become familiar -
with the structure of the company and its procedures shortly after taking up employment with the company. -

Briefings and notices ‘are issued on a regular basis to employees enabling them to understand their role in the
organisation more clearly. The organisation encourages employees' personal development through a regular

appraisal process. Where training needs are highlighted the organisation endeavours to address these needs and -
readily encourages promotional prospects.

Environmental matters
In accordance with the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reportmg (SECR) requrrements the Group dlscloses
the followmg energy and carbon metrics for the year:

Page 8
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P&O Ferfymaster_s Limited

Directors Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (eontinued)- o

- ) . Unitof =~ .
Name and-description Metric and / or KPI measurement - 2022
Annual emissions in tonnes of L : 345
. CO2e A _ ~ Scope 1 ' - tCO2e = -
Scope 2 location-based  :  tCO2e o 70 .
Scope 2 market-based . tCO2e - -
Scope 3 ~ 1CO2e . 212,889
Intensity ratios Scope 1 and 2 FTE Energy {CO2e/FTE , 074"
) : . Intensity _ o
T ' : - Scope 3 Intensity tCO2e/tonne-km 0.042
Energy . Electricity . .7 Mwh . - 936
Fuels’ Litres . - 142,426

This statement has been prepared in accordance with our regulatory obligation to report greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions pursuant to the Companies (Directors’. Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and
Carbon Report) Regulations 2018 which 1mplement the government’s policy on Streamlined Energy and Carbon-

'Reportmg
N

During the repomng period 1st of January 2022 to the 31st of December 2022, our measured Scope 1 and 2-

emissions totalled 416tCO2e (2021: 536 tCO2e) This comprised of:

. 2022
Scope 1 Emissions (Diesel and Petrol consumed by company vehicles or on, . ‘
.- 345,152
company business) (Kgs CO2e)
Scope 2 Emissions (Electnclty consumed by company locations — where : 70.901 ‘

direct meter readings are available) (Kgs CO2e¢)
Transport (Fuel: Diesel and Petrol):

" Date ' Conls)lil‘:rslzl d () Diesel Kg CO2e Conl;fltl:‘lzldi(l) Petrol Kg CO2e Total 'K.g CO2e
2021 _ 83,769 225,505 - 55,763 127,466 352,971
2022 - 48,227 129,827 94,199 215,324 345,151

 Purchase FElectricity: . ) ’
Electricity - o Year: 2022

" Total (KwH) - : : 936,131
‘Renewable (KwH) : SR 555,333

. Low Carbon (Nuclear) (KwH) 14,184
Non-renewable (KWH) - 366,643
Kgs CO2e o 70,901
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P&O Ferrymasfers Limited

-Directors RepOrt for the Year Ended 31 D-ecember 2022 (continued)

Intensity Ratio: )
Electricity S Year: 2022
C02e (tonnes) . ) 416

. Employees ) . 556 -
Intensity Ratio (tonnes CO2e per”
employee) B N 0.74
The comparable data for 2021 is below:
CO2e - ' B oo | | Ye_ase 2021

. Emission Sources © UK Non-UK  Total
TotalScopel- . = | 52 107 159
Natural Gas B 39 . .85 124
Business Travel — Scope 1 13 22 . 35
Scope 2 . ’ )

N " Electricity (Location BaSed) : o 197 18Q ‘ 37
Electricity (Market based) . ' 115 175 _ 290
Total Scope 3 - _ ' 9 10 ) 19
Water ' . 9 ' 100 19
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. P&O Ferrymasters Limited
‘ Directors Report for the Year Ended 31 December,2022 (continued) :
Methodology

* Fuel (petrol and dlesel) consumed by company vehrcles is measured from fuel card réeceipts in UK, NL, BE
and DE

+ Electricity consumption is taken from invoices where electricity is paid for d1rectly by the company, in office
locations across UK and Europe. Locations where electricity is not paid for directly by the company is excluded.

Energy efficiency measures taken

* The company has continued to recognise its environmental responsibilities, which are set out in its
Environmental Policy Statement and Environmental Procedures. P&QO Ferrymasters provides a service that is
cost effective and sustainable, meeting the needs of its clients, legrslatlon corporate or shareholder requlrements

- and commercral pressures.

In 2022 the company has:- .
~« Two electric cars introduced into the company vehicle fleet, and increase in hybrids and PHEV's

» LED lights deliver circa 30% reduction in electricity consumption in Milan )

» Trial of an LNG Truck within our Intermodal Business Unit

* 46% of P&O Trailer or Container loads include a rail movement

+ 94,931,152 Kms via intermodal rail

- Europewide Employee Assistance Programme continued

=2 walking challenges as part of Wellbeing campaign

+ 4.Mental Health First Aiders now active in the company

The company plans to:-

« Continue to transition its company vehicles to Petrol, Hybrld PHEYV and Electric vehlcles
« Increase the pércentage of its locations on renewable energy electricity supply contracts

« Continue to develop and promote its multimodal (road-rail-sea) services to the market

» Continue to trial alternative fuel technologies with its partners

Branches outside the United Kingdom
P&O Ferrymasters Limited has branches in the Netherlands the Republlc of Ireland and F rance."

L

Going concern

‘Having-considered the adequacy of the facilities and developed scenarios including plausible downside
sensitivities to understand the impact of the continued economic uncertainty on key areas of the business, the
directors have concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. The
considerations are detalled in note 2.

Directors' liabilities

Relevant personnel at P&O Ferrymasters Limited are covered by the Drrectors and Officers Liability Insurance
arranged by Port and Free Zone World with Chubb Insurance and others. The main limit is US$100 million
" which applies to either a single claim or to cap the total claims submitted within an insured period. -
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Dlrectors Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (contmued)

Disclosure of information to the auditor .
Eachi of the persons who are directors at the time when this D1rectors Report is approved has conf rmed that:

So far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware,'
and the director has taken all steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor i is aware of that mformatlon

‘Matters covered i m the Strateglc Report -

The Strategic Report includes the followmg disclosures that would otherwxse have been included in the
Directors’ Report: e

Business review
Key performance indicators
Principal risks and uncertainties

' Reappomtment of auditor . '
The auditor KPMG LLP are deemed to be reappomted under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006.

Approved by the Board on 22 March 2024 and sxgned on lts behalf by

DocuSigned by:

91A1976F4BDF458...

CN Cassidy
Director

‘Registered Office address: Untt 2, Mackean Logistics Centre, Larne Harbour, Larne, Co Antrim, BT40 1AJ.
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

: Statement of Directors’ Responmblhtles in respect of the Strategic Report the Dlrectors
Report and the Fmanclal Statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Dire‘ctors’ Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicablé law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they '
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law - -
(UK Generally Accepted Accounting Praétice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the dlrectors must riot approve the financial statements unless they are satlsf ed that they
~ give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss 6f the company.for that
period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

+ . .select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
*+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

«  state whether apphcable UK accounting standards have been followed subject to any matenal departures :
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

+ assess the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, dlsclosmg, as appllcable matters related to
" .. going concern; and

» use the going concern basis of accountmg unless they either mtend to liquidate the company or to cease
~ opérations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accountmg records that are sufficient to show and explam the
‘company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
. and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are-
responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general
- responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the company and to
prevent and detect fraud and other 1rregular1t1es

Page-14
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of P&O Ferrymasters Limited
g Opinion

We have audited the ﬁnancial statements of P&O Ferrymasters Limited (“the company"’) for the year ended 31
December 2022 which comprise the Profit and Loss Account, Statement of Other Comprehensive Income,
Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.

In our opinion the ﬁnanc1a1 statements

+ give a true and fair view of the state of the company s affalrs as at 31 December 2022 and of its proﬁt for the
year then ended; :

* have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accountmg standards, 1ncludmg FRS 101 Reduced
‘Disclosure Framework; and :

» have been prepared in accordance with the requ1rements of the Companies Act 2006

- Basis for opinion

"We conducted our audit in accordance with International Stan.datdson Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below.-We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under,

“and‘are independent of the company in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethlcal
Standard. We beheve that the audit ev1dence we have obtamed is a sufficient and approprlate basis for our
opinion. - . o«

Gomg concern

.The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the company or to cease its operations, and as they have concluded that the company’s financial
position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could
have cast significant doubt ovér its ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of
approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period™).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions We considefed the inherent risks to the company’s business
- model and analysed how those risks might affect the company s ﬁnancnal resources or ablllty to continue -
operatlons over the gomg concern period.

Our conclusions based on-this work:

*we conSIder that the directors” use of the going concern basis. of accounting in the preparatlon of the ﬁnanmal
statements is appropnate

- we have not identified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty
related to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company s
» ablllty to continue as a gomg concern for the going concern period.
.However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events-may result in outcomes-
that'are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions
are not a guarantee that the company will continue in operatlon
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of P&O Ferrymasters lelted
: (contlnued)

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations - ability to detect .
Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions that
could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:

. Enqumng of directors as to the Company ] hlgh -level po]1c1es and procedures to prevent and detect fraud as
well as Whether: they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

« Reading Board minutes.

* Using analytical procedures to 1dent1fy any unusual or unexpected, relationships

We communicated 1dent1ﬁed fraud risks throughout the audit team and remamed alert-to any indications of
fraud throughout the audit. ‘

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account our overall knowledge of the control environment,-
we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue -
. recognition, in particular the risk that revenue is recorded in the wrorg period and the risk thiat management may
be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries, and the risk of bias in accountmg estimates and -
Judgements :

We did not identify‘any additional fraud risks’.

In .determining the audit procedures we took into account the results of our evaluation and testing of the
operatmg effectiveness of some of the Company -wide fraud risk management controls.

‘We also performed procedures including:

. Obtaining a sample of invoices and related delivery documentation around the year end to assess whether -
revenue has been recorded in the appropriate period.
» Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparmg the identified entries to supportmg

~ documentation. These included those posted to unusual accounts.
+ Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias. :

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due 1o non-compliance with laws and regulatioris

- We-identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience and through discussion with the
directors (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors the policies and procedures
regardmg compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws.and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of
non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably. -

 Firstly, the Company is subject to-laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and
taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement items.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of P&O Ferrymasters Limited
(contmued)

Secondly, the Company is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-
compliance could have a material effect on’amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instan¢e
through the imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Company’s license to operate. We identified the

_following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: health and safety, anti-bribery, employment law,
regulatory capital and liquidity and certain aspects of company legislation recognising the nature of the
Company’s activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with
these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if
any. Therefore if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident from relevant 4 '
correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breachés of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the.financial statements, even though we have properly planned-and performed our
audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures requ1red by auditing standards would 1dent1fy it.

In addition, as. with any audit, there remamed a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve .
collusion, forgery, intentional omissiornis, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non- compllance
or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non- compllance with all laws and regulations.
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Independent Auditor s Report to the Members of P&O Ferrymasters Limited .
(contmued)

.

Strateglc report and directors’ report »

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the dlrectors report Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon

.Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in doing s0, consider whether,

. based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with
the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work: ' B

*we haveinotiidentiﬁed material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

» in our opinion the mformation given in those reports for the financial year is consrstent with the financial
statements; and

« in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to yon if, in our opinion:

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not VlSlted by us; or

« the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or .
* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

" We have nothing to report in these respects.

Page 18



Docqugn Envelope ID: 05B2AE7D-8527-43FF-B689-879A297A05A2

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of P&O Ferrymasters Limited
" (continued) :

[y

Directors’ responsibilities :
- As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 14, the d|rectors are responsible for: the preparation
- of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as
they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to. hquldate the company or to cease operations, or have no reallstlc alternative but to
do so. -
i

Auditor’s responsibilities

+ Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance

- with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or.
error and are considered material if, individually orin aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
‘the economlc dec1510ns of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. -

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. :

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part'16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters. we are required to state to them. in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permltted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the
company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Kelly Dunn (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor’
Chartered Accountants -

* 20 Station Road ..

" Cambridge
CB12JD

22 March 2024
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:P&O Ferrymasters Limited -
" Profit and Loss Account for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

2022 ’ 2021 .

. Note » £000 £ 000
~* Turnover , - ' : 3 508,743 " 449,382

Cost of sales : : o - (460,232) (416,293)
" Gross profit o o " 48,511 " 33080

Administfati\/e expenses o . ’ (36,942) ' (33,264)

Other o;;erating income " h . , A o o - 112

Operating profit/(loss) ' o .4 " 11,569 _ (63')
¢ Other interest receivable and'similar.income- 5 ' 97 ' . 3

Interest payable and similar expenses o 6 (519) (814)

Proﬁt/(lo;s) before tax . ‘ ‘ _ < 11,147 - (874)

Tax on profit/(loss) ‘ R 9 o (2,733) - 272

» Proﬁd(lo.ss) for the yeé.r. o ‘ ‘ . | 8;41;1 . (602)
The abpve results were derived from continuing opera-tions. '
Tllle notes.on pages .25 to 78 form an-integral part of these financial statements.
~

CA
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P&O'F_errymastervs"l_,imited. .

Statement of vOther'ComprehenSive_Incdme for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

~ Profit/(loss) for the year

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to prdﬁt'or
loss . .

~ Remeasurements of post - employment benefit obligations

Deferred tax on remeasurement of post - employment beneﬁf_
obligations ' : '

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation (losses)/gains in relation to lease
liabilities : '

Total (;dmprehensive income for the year

The notes on pages 25 to'78 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2022 2021
£000 £ 000
8414 (602)
(2,092) 4,108
541 (1,035)
(1,551) 3,073
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| P&O Ferrymasters Limited -

(Registration number: NI004115)
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022

2022 © 2021

Note £000 ~ £000

.Fixéd assets . o : .
Property, plant and equipment * . . 11 - . 18,143 _ 20,498 _
Investments - ‘ -o13 26 .26 - '
‘Right of use assets - o - 10 11,555 17,576

' o ' o 29,724 38,100
Cur\rent assets S ‘ . ) » ' .
Debtors I S 114 , - 108,997 - 89,652
Cash at bank and in hand . : .15 : < 10,775 : 11,492

' ‘ _ : ' ‘ ' 119772 - 101,144

. Creditof‘s: amounts falling due within one year ) - ‘ S |
Trade and other payables. . oo o 20 ‘ " (107,397) - ~(100,433)
Loans and borrowings L C o (2,540) (2,889)
Deferred income - ' B T (1,693) T (1,294)
Current portion of long term lease liabilities : 16 (4,655) - = (5,106)

. E ‘ (116,285) (109,722)

" Net current assets/(liabilities) - ‘ _ 3,487 L (81578)
Total assets less current liabilities ' . - : . B 33,211 © 29,522
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than oﬁe yeér ‘ | .
Long term lease liabilities ’ . 16 : (9,720) ) (14,613)
Deferred tax liability - A S , S 9 B '(1,.290) . B (1,041)
Net assets excluding pension liability o g E L 22,201 : 13,é68
Net pension asset - P&O Irish Pension Scheme - - 19 . - 1,529 1,105

~ Net pension asset - MNOPE _ ' K 19 N S
Net pension (liability)/asset - P&O UK Defined Benefit Pension , : ) '
Scheme - : 19 , - (870) 1,230
Net pension liability - MNRPF . 19 - (57D : . .(278) -

. , o ' ‘ 86 . 2,057
Net assets ' _ : 22,287 15,925
Caﬁita! and reserves _ V . .
Called up share capital o : R . 17 46,830. - - 46,830
Revaluation reserve . . » . T (565) ' ~(64)
. Profit and loss account o . B ’ _(23978) - - (30,841) -
) 'Sharehoiders' funds ' . ‘ : . o 22,287 - . 15,925
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

(Registration number: NI004115)
Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022 (continued)

Approved by the Board on 22 March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

— DocuSigned by:

91A1976F4BDF458B...

CN Cassidy

_ Director

The notes on pages 25 t0.78 form an integral part of these ﬁnéﬁcia] statements.
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At 1 January 2022
"Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

At31 December 2022

At'1 January 2021
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

At 31 December 2021

The notes on pages 25 to 78 form an integral part of these financial statements.

ljocuSign Envelope ID: 05BZAE7D-8527~43FF-BEBQ-879A257A05A2

;

P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

Revaluation Retained . :
Share capital reserve’ earnings Total
£ 000 £000 £000 £000
46,830 (64)- (30,841) 15,925
. - 8,414 8,414
- (501)- (1,551) (2,052)
- (501) 6,863 - 6,362
46,830 (565) C(23,978) . 22,287 .
- Revaluation . B -
Share capital reserve Retained earningsTotal —
-£000 £000 £000£ 000
46,830 (1,082) (33312 ~ 12,436
- - (602) (602) '
- 1,018 3,073 4,001
- 1,018 2,471 3,489
46,830 - (64) (30,841) 15925

- Page 24



DocuSign Envelope- ID: 05B2AE7D-8527-43FF-B689-879A297A05A2

P&O Ferrymasters Limited |

Notes to the Financial Statements for th,e Year Ended 31 Decernber 2022

1 General information .

P&O Ferrymasters Limited is a prrvate company 1ncorporated domrclled and registered in Northem Ireland
The registered number is NI004115

The address of i its registered office is:

Unlt 2

Mackean Logrstlcs Centre
Larne Harbour

Larne

Northern Ireland

BT40 1AT .

2 Aceounting poli.cies

Basis of preparation

The Company is exempt by virtue of s400 of the Compames Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare group
financial statements. These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual
undertaking and not about its group. »

These financial statements were prepared in accordance w1th Financial Reportmg Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework. :

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition,” méasurement and disclosure
_ requirements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards ("UK-adopted IFRS"), but makes
- amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage
of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken ‘
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P&O Ferrymasters lelted

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (contmued)
-

2 Accounting policies (continued)’

Summary of dlsclosure exemptlons
. IFRS1 grants certain exemptions from the full requirements of UK-adopted IFRSs in the transition period. The
. following exemptions have been taken in these financial statements: .

- Busmess combinations - Business combmatlons that took place prlor tol January 2014 have not been restated.
- Employee benefits - All cumulative actuarlal gains and losses on defined beneﬁt plans have been recognised in
equity at 1 January 2014. : .

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions avallable under FRS 101 in respect of
the following disclosures: :
- Cash Flow Statement and related riotes : :
- Comparative period reconciliations-for share capltal tangible ﬂxed assets and mtang1ble assets.
- Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries - . ~
.- Disclosures in respect of capital management ' )
- The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs -
- Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel and
. - Disclosures of transactions w1th a management entlty that provides key management personnel services to the ‘
‘company .

As the consolidated financial statements of P&O Ferries Division Holdings Limited include the equivalent
disclosures, the Company has also taken the exemptlons under FRSlOl available in respect of the following
disclosures: .

- - Certain disclosures required by IAS 36 Impamnent of assets in respect of the impairment of" goodwnll and

indefinite life intangible assets;

- Certain disclosures required by IFRS 3 Business Combinations i in respect of busmess combinations undertaken

by the Company in the current and prior periods including the comparative period reconciliation for goodwill;

. - Certain disclosures required by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures requnred by IFRS 7
Financial Instrument Dzsclosures -

'The Company proposes to continue to adopt the reduced disclosure framework of FRS 101 in‘its next ﬁnanc1al
statements. ' :
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial Statéments for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
y :
2 ,Accounting polict_es (continued) i

Gomg concern :
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the directors considér to be '
appropriate for the: followmg reasons.

The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts fora perrod of at least 12 months from the date of approval of
these-finandial statements which indicate that the company will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as
they fall due for that perlod

The cashflow forecasts bunlds upon the excellent full year performance in 2022. The base case forecast
preparation and approach has been consistent with previous years. Further, the base case forecast includes
synergies from the Joint Venture with Unifeeder Shortsea (a business unit of Unifeeder A/S), working closely
with other DP World companies and a move from capital expenditure to ‘operational expendlture as the
Company seeks to'leverage the asset base from the wider DP World Group.

The directors have considered reasonable p0551ble downside scenarios compared to the base case forecast. The
Company has a largely variable cost base to enable them to react to reductions in volumes with the fixed.cost
base driven principally from salary costs. The key assumptions in the downside scenario include a reduced
EBITof 10% and 25%. In the reasonable possible downside scenario the Company remains cash generative
before any interventions-are modelled.

To mitigate any potent1al volume reductions and i increase in costs noted aboyve, the Company has a number of
levers it their disposal and are set.out below:

v

" 1. Business activity and volume constitute the single largest challenge and will be primarily addressed with the -
multimodal product in conjunction with the cross fertilisation with other DP World companies.

2. Rlsmg fuel cost increases, have been mmgated by the mtroductlon of ancﬂlary charges, wrth fuel escalators
_ ‘lmplemented from Q1 2022.

3. The increasing risks of inflation across Europe and the UK, is prrmarrly covered as part of customer and
supplier pricing mechanisms. ‘ :

4. The Energy crisis'is being closely monitored; minimal downward trend is forecasted as a number of
customers implement very short-term production-freezes. :

5. Reduction of the fleet to leverage the wider DP Worid fleet.

6. The Ukrame conflict marginally reduced service coverage and did not constitute a 51gmf cant part of the
overall performance. .
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i

P,&O'Ferryrnastvers Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2 Accounting pollcles (continued)

In the event of the reasonable possible downside scenario, the Company remains cash generatlve Based on current
performed year to date to the end of February 2024, volumes are down however the cash balances remain
anywhere between £10 - £15 million.

Overall, these mitigations demonstrate the Company is able to adjust accordingly and the Company remains well
placed and agile in meeting the requirements of it stakeholders, business partners and the market conditions.

The Company operates independently of P&O Ferries Division Holdings Limited, an intermediate parent
undertaking, and is cash generative however the Company’s parent P&O Ferrymasters Holdings Limited is funded
by a formalised £30 million unsecured interest free long-term credit facility which is repayable not earlier than 31
December 2029. Any repayment earlier than 31 December 2029 is at the discretion of P&O Ferrymasters Holdings
Limited and that the counterparty, P&O Ferries Division Holdings Limited cannot call repayment before this

point. As at 31 December 2022 the balance outstanding on the facility was £20 million and £10 million as at 1

March 2024, with £10 million of the loan havmg been repald in 2023. No additional financial support is requrred .

-by the Company

The Company participates in a Group Cash Concentration arrangement which.is not a legal requirement but a ‘

groupwide initiative which results in dally excess cash balances being swept overnight to/from the P&O Ferries

- bank header accounts.

The cash concentration remains the most suitable mechanism for the needs of the business and the Group and

Management has no requirement to change the current facility.

Consequently, the directors are confident that the company will have sufficient funds to continue to meef its

- liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements and-therefore

have prepared the financial statements on a gomg concern basis.

Exemptlon from preparing group accounts
The Company's senior parent undertaking, P&O Ferries Division Holdmgs Limited includes the Company in its

. consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of P&O Ferries Division Holdings

Limited are prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards and are avallable to the public and
may be obtained from

The Registrar of Companies
Companies House '
Crown Way

Maindy

Cardiff A

CF14 3UZ
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P&O Ferrymasters lelted

Notes to the Fmanclal Statements for. the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (contlnued)

_2 " Accounting policies (continued)

Uses of estimates and critical ]udgements _

The preparation of the financial statements requires management'to make _]udgements estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities at the reporting date. .
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a-
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future.

- The key areas where the Company typically makes judgements involving estimates are in the following areas: -

Estimates:

Provision for impairment of trade receivables and accrued income

Trade receivables and accrued income are amounts due from customers in the ordinary course of business.
Trade receivables and accrued income are classified as current assets if collectlon is due within one year or less.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

The provision for impairment of trade receivables and -accrued income represents management’s best estimate at
the balance sheet date. A number of judgements are made in the calculation of the provision, primarily the age
of the invoice, the existence of any disputes, recent hlstorlcal payment patterns and the debtor’s ﬁnan01al
posmon

Non-Actualised Job Estimates

The carrying amount of the job cost-accruals are rev1ewed annually, after a pre-agreed time the job cost accruals
are manually written off by the finance team, the time is deemed appropriate when there is no ﬁnther
expectation or probability that a suppller costs w111 be received.

Measurement of rzght-of use assets and liabilities -

A critical estimate in determmmg the lease term is the assessment of extension and termination options.
Extension and termination options are accounted for as lease modifications when management estimate it is
hlghly probable that the optlons will be exerc1sed

‘Where the interest rates 1mphc1t in the Company s leases are not. avallable incremental borrowings rates.will be
used to discount lease liabilities.

Penszon lzabzlztzes/oblzgatzons
~ The directors consider that significant estimation arises in respect of assumptions applied to measure the
- Group’s defined benefit pension liabilities (note 19).
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial Staternen_ts for the Year Ended 31 December 2022'('continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Judgements:

Revenue recognition : .

IFRS15 " Revenue from Contracts with Customers " require the company to perform an impact assessment on
each of its revenue streams in order to identify the performance obligations in its customer contracts and
establish an appropriate method of recognising revenue on satisfied of these performance obligations. A
judgement is required to determine whether revenue is recognised at a "point in tlme as well as determine the
transfer of control for when performance obligations are satisfied. R

The company has defined the performance obligation tg be a point in time - deemed to be the date of delivery to
the customer. This is a critical judgement since revenue recognition would differ if the performance obligation
were deemed to be satisfied at a different point in time. Where the Company acts as a prmcrple rather than an
agent, the revenue and costs are show gross.

At the end of the year, there may be amounts where invoices have not been raised but performance obhgatlons
are deemed satisfied, and these are recognised as accrued income. The movement in the asset between the years
is.due to the invoicing-of all prior year assets and accrual of amounts relating to the current year

"Revenue recognition
Recognition »
The company earns revenue from thé provision of services relating to transport services to third party customers

between Great Britain, Ireland and Continental Europe.

Revenue excludes VAT and other sales taxes and is measured at the falr value of the consnderatlon receivable,
net of discounts. :

Transport revenue is recogmsed at the point of dellvery of the Ioad

The prmcrples in IFRS are applled to revenue recognition criteria using the followmg 5 step model

1. Identify the contracts with the customer.
- 2. Identify the performance obllgatrons in the contract
3. Determine the transaction price.
-4, Allocate the transactlon price to the performance obligations in the contract.
5. Recognise revenue ‘when or as the entity satisfies its performance obligations.
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the ananciai Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

.2 Accountrng po,licies’(contin_ued)._

Fee arrangements '

Below are details of fee arrangements and how these are measured and recogmsed for revenue from the
provision of services: -

«  For fixed price at point of order there are various contracts issued to customers which include tarrifs for
transport services that P&O Ferrymasters Limited.agree to provide. The contracts are agreed prior to
" commencing trade with the customer and are reviewed periodically. The contract is approved by both P&O

Ferrymasters Limited and the customer. The terms and conditions of business are also sent to the customers.
The terms and conditions outline each party's rights in relation to the goods and services to be transferred.
The payment terms are also agreed upon set up of the new customer. Each contract has commercial
substance and it is probable that the consideration to which P&O Ferrymasters Limited. is entitled to, will be

] paid, in exchange for the services the company provides. Each tariff is applled to each separate job that is

, ' ~ completed and it is recognised upon delivery.

» For fixed fee arrangements from services revenue where management fees are eamed from contracts, the
company assesses whether it is acting as principal or an.agent. If it is a principal, then all income is shown as
~ revenue.and all costs are also reflected in the Profit and Loss account. If it is an agent, then just the
management fee is shown as revenue. The management fee is agreed in the contract and is recognised
" proportionally throughout the financial year.® :

Revenue is recognised in accordance with satisfaction of performance obligations.

The main performance obligations in contracts consist of delivery of goods and services. For all contracts the
stage delivery of performance obllgatlons are measured at the balance sheet date by receipt of 51gned proof of
delivery. .

3
;

. Transaction price

To calculate the transaction price of contracts management estimates the stand-alone selling price at contract
inception, based on the retail price less discounts / offers and vadlue added taxes to identify the transaction price.
Both fixed feé contracts and fees relating to service contracts have the transactional prices specified in the

_contract. Discounts to contract prices are applied to contract revenue once the discount terms have been met by
the customer. The revenue is measured at the transactlon price under the contract Revenue is recogmsed upon
delivery.
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| P&O Ferrymasters Ltmit_ed

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued) -

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Prznczpal versus agent.

" The company has arrangements whereby it needs to determine if it acts asa prmcrpal or an agent as more than
one party is involved in provrdmg the goods and services to the customer. ‘The company acts as a principal if it
controls a promised good or service before transferring that good or service to the customer. The company is an
agent if its role is to arrange for another entity to provide the goods or services. Factors considered in making
this assessment are most notably the discretion the company has in establishing the price for the specified good
or service, whether the company has 1nventory risk and whether the company is pnmarlly responsible for
fulfilling the promise to dellver the. servrce or good

This assessment of control requires judgement in particular in relation to certain service contracts. An example,
_ is the provision of certain management fee services where the company. may be assessed to be agent or principal
dependent upon the faets and circumstances of the arrangement and the nature of the services being delivered. -

Where the companyis actmg asa prmclpal revenue is recorded on a gross basis. Where the company is actmg
as an agent revenue is recorded at a net amount reflecting the margin eamed

Contract modiﬁcations

The company’s contracts are often amended for changes in contract specifications and requirements. Contract -
modification exists when the amendment either creates new or changes the existing enforceable rights and
obligations. The effect of a contract modification on the transaction price and the company’s measure of
progress for the performance obllgatlon to whlch it relates, is recogmsed as an adjustment to revenue iri one of
the following ways:

a; Prospectively as an additional separate contract;

b; Prospectively as a termination of the existing contract arid creatron of a new contract;

¢; As part of the original contract using a-cumulative catch up; or

d; As a combination of b) and c).
. . . ¥

" The facts and circumstances of any contract modification are considered individually as the types of
modifications will vary contract by contract and may result in different accounting outcomes. Judgement is
applied in relation to the accounting for such modifications where the final terms or legal contracts have not
been agreed prior to the period end as management need to determme if a modification has been approved and if
it either creates new or changes existing enforceable rights and obligations of the parties. Depending upon the
outcome of such negotiations, the timing and amount of revenue recognised may be different in the relevant .
accounting periods. Modification and amendments to contracts are undertaken via an agreed formal process. For
example, if a change in scope has been approved but the corresponding change in price is still bemg negotiated,
management use therr judgement to estimate the change to the total transaction prrce
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (coutinued) '

2 - Accounting policies (continue'd)

. Forelgn currency transactlons and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the Company’s functional currencies at the foreign exchange
rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the
"balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange dlfferences arising on translation-are
recognised in the profit and loss account '

Tax . . )

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss
account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income,
in which case it is recognised directly in equity .or other comprehensive income.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or A
substantively enacted by the reporting date in the countries where the company operates and generates taxable
income. . . \

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences.between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for :
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences
are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination, and the differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The
amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner-of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recogmsed only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
"available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. :

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated lmpalrment
losses.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have dlfferent useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items of property plant and equipment. :

. Leases in which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset

* are classified as finance leases. Where land and buildings are held under leases the accounting treatment of the
land is considered separately from that of the buildings. Leased assets acquired by way of finance lease are
stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at
inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and less accumulated impairment losses. :
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Notes“to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 De‘cemb‘er 2022 (continued)

2. Accolunting_ policies (continued)

Depreclatlon - ' . : A :
Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account on a stralght-lme basns over the estimated useful lives of
each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land is not deprecnated

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

The estimated useful lives are as follows: X

Asset class = - : - Depreciation method and rate
Owned and leased plant and machinery o - 2to 12 years :
Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment : . A " 4to 10 years

Other PPE . A , ~ 2to 10 years

Intanglble assets :
Goodwill is stated at cost less'accumulated amortlsatlon and accumulated impairment losses. It is tested
annually for impairment. . :

Amortisation

Amortisation is charged to the profit and loss account ona stralght -line basis over the estimated useful lives of

intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with'an indefinite useful life and goodwill are
* systematically tested for impairment at each balance sheet date. Other mtanglble assets are amortised from the

date they are avallable for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

" Asset class ' : . Amortisation method and rate
. Goodwill - o ‘ ' Straight line over 20 years '
o Investments ' A

Investments are stated at amortised cost less impairment.

" Cash and cash equlvalents .
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposnts and other short-term hlghly liquid
investménts that are readily convertible to a known arnount of cash and are subject to an 1n51gmﬁcant risk of
. changes in value

Trade recelvables

Trade debtors are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary

course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the busmess
. if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as fixed assets. -

Trade debtors are reco‘gmsed initially at the transaction price. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for the impairment of trade
debtors is established when thete is objective evidence that the company ‘will not be able to. collect all amounts
due according to the original terms of the debtors. :

\
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2. Accounting pollicies (continued).

Tradeé payables

Trade creditors are obhgatlons to pay for goods or servrces that have been acqurred in the ordmary course e of
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the busmess 1f longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
habrhtres :

Trade creditors are recogmsed initially at the transaction prlce and subsequently measured at amortised cost ‘
using the effective mterest method.

Borrowings : :

All borrowings are mrtrally recorded at the amount of proceeds recerved net of transaction costs. Borrowings
are subsequently carried at amortised cost, with the difference between the proceeds, net of transaction costs,
and the amount due on redemption being recognised as a charge to the profit and loss account over the perlod of
the re]evant borrowing,

Interest expense is recogmsed on the basis of the effective mterest method and is mcluded in finance costs.

Borrowmgs are classrf ed as current hablhtres unless the company has an uncondmonal right to defer settlement
ofthe liability for at-least 12 months after the reporting date.

IFRS16 Leases
Def nition .

A lease is a contract, or a part ofa contract that conveys the right to use an asset or a physically distinct part of
an asset (“the underlying asset”) for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Further, the contract must
convey the right to the company to control the asset or a physically distinct portion thereof. A contract is
deemed to convey the right to control the underlyrng asset if, throughout the perrod of use, the company has the -
tight to: . ,

- Obtain substantially all the economic beneﬁts from the use of the underlying asset, and;
- Direet the use of the underlying asset (e.g. direct how and for what purpose the asset is used)

Where contracts contain a lease coupled with an agreement to purchase or sell other goods or services (i.e., non- .
lease components), the non-lease components are identified and accounted for separately from the lease '
component. The consideration in the contract is allocated to the lease and non-lease components on a relatlve
standalone price ba515 using the principles in IFRS15:
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December.2022 (continued)

2 Accountmg pohc:es (contmued)

Initial recogmtzon and measurement

The company initially i recognises a lease liability for the obhgatlon to. make lease payments and a right-of-use
asset for the right to use the underlymg asset for the lease term.

‘The lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
- lease payments.include fixed payments, purchase options at exercise price (where payment is reasonably
certain), expected amount of residual value guarantees, termination option penalties (where payment is
" considered reasonably certain) and variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate. ’

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted for lease prepayments,
lease incentives received, the company’s initial direct costs (e.g., commissions) and an estimate of restoration,
removal and dlsmantlmg costs

Subsequent measurement

After the commencement date, the ¢ompany measures the lease liability by:

(@ Increasmg the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;

(b) Reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and

(c) Re-measuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to'reflect rev1sed in
substance ﬁxed lease payments or on the occurrence of other Spec1ﬁc events.

Interest on the lease liability in each period durmg the lease term is the amount that produces a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability. Initerest charges are [presented separately as non-
operating /included in finance cost] in the profit and loss account,.unless the costs are included in the carrying

. amount of another asset applying other applicable standards. Variable lease payments not included in the
measurement of the lease liability, are included in operating expenses in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers them arises.

The related right-of-use asset is accounted for using the Cost model in IAS 16 and depreciated and charged in
accordance with the depreciation requirements of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment as disclosed in the )
accounting policy for Property, Plant and Equipment. Adjustments are made to the carrying value of the right of
use asset where the lease liability is re-measured in accordance with the above. Right of use assets are tested for
impairment in accordancé with IAS 36 Impairment of assets as disclosed in the accounting policy in '
impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2 Accounting policie§ (continued)

Lease modifications -

_ If a lease is modified, the modlﬁed contract is evaluated to determine whether it is or contains a lease. If a lease
continues to exist, the lease modification w1ll result in elther a separate lease or a change in the accountmg for
the existing lease.

The modification is accounted for as a separate lease if both: :
" (a) The modlﬁcatlon increases the scope of the lease by addmg the right to use one or more underlymg assets;
and
(b) The consideration for-the Iease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adJustments to that stand alone prlce to reﬂect the cncumstances of the
- particular contract.

If both of these conditions are met, the lease modification results in two separate leases; the unmodified original
lease and a separate lease. The company then accounts for these in line with the accounting policy for new
leases.

If either of the conditions are not met, the modified lease is not accounted for as a separate lease and the
consideration is allocated to the contract and the lease liability is re-measured using the lease term of the
modified lease and the discount rate as determined at the effective date of the modification.

For a modification that fully or partially decreases the scope of the lease (e.g., reduces the square footage of
leased space), IFRS 16 requires a lessee to decrease the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset to reflect
partial or full termination of the lease. Any difference between those adjustments is recogmsed in proﬁt or loss
at the effective date of the modification.

For all other lease modifications which are not accounted for as a separate lease IFRS 16 requires the lessee to
recognise the amount of the re-measurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the corresponding right-of-
use asset without affectmg prof tor loss. -

Short term and low value leases 4
The company has made an accounting policy election, by class of under]ying asset, not to recognise lease assets
- and lease liabilities for leases with a lease term of 12 months or less (i.e. ‘sh'ort-term leases). . v '

.The company has made an accounting policy election on a lease -by-lease basis, not to recognise lease assets on
leases for which the underlying asset is of low va]ue

. Lease payments on short term and low value leases are accounted for on a straight line bases over.the term of

the lease or other systematic basis if considered more appropriate. Short term and low value lease payments are
included in operating expenses in the profit and loss account. : :
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2 Accountmg policies (continued)

. Sub leases

If an underlying asset is re-leased by the company to a third party and the company retains the primary
obligation under the original lease, the transaction is deemed to be a sublease. The company continues to

- account for the original lease (the head lease) as a lessee and accounts for the sublease as a lessor (intermediate
lessor). When the head lease is a short-term lease, the sublease is classified as an operating lease. Otherwise, the
sublease is classified usmg the classification criteria applicable to Lessor Accounting in IFRS 16 by reference 10
the rlght-of-use asset in the head lease (and not the underlying asset of the head lease). .

Afterclassification lessor accounting is applied to the sublease.

. Impairment of non-financial assets

‘The carrying amounts of the Company's non-fi nanclal assets other than stocks and deferred tax assets, are
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication of 1mpa1rment If any such 1nd1cat10n
exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. 4

"The recoVerable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit ("CGU"), is the greater of its value in use and its fair
value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are
grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups or assets ("the cash-generating unit"). The

- goodwill acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is allocated to CGUs.
Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated or aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest
level at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergles of the combination.

An 1mpa1rment loss is recogmsed if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds it$ estimated
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the profit and loss account. Impairment losses are
recognised.in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
umts and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

An 1mpaerent loss in respect of goodwill is reversed if and only if the reasons for the impairment have ceased
to apply. :

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for
any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is réversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of deprecratlon or amortisation, if no 1mpa|nnent loss had been recognised.
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2 Accounting pdlicies (continued)

Share capital .

Ordinary shares are classified as equ1ty Equity instruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other
resources received or receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. If payment is deferred
and the time value of money is material, the initial measurement is on a present value basis.

Defined contribution pension obligation .

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the company pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no Iegal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recogmsed as an expense in the proﬁ
and loss account in the periods during which servrces are rendered by employees. -

The Cornpany operates three defined contribution pension scheme's The assets of the schernes are held

separately from those of the Companyin independently administered funds. The amount charged to the profit
-. and loss account represents the contributions payable to the schemes in respect of the accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2 Acicounting‘ policies (continued)

Defined benefit pension obligation

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Company s
net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their services in the current and prior periods;
that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets (at bid price) are
deducted. The Company determines the net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the-period by
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the anniial period to
the net defined benefit liability/(asset). 4

The discount rate is the yield at the repomng date on bonds that have a credit rating of at least AA that have
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company s obligations and that are denommated in the currency -
in which the benefits are expected to be paid. . : -

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans comprise actuarial gains and losses; the return on.plan assets
(excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest). The company recognises them

‘ immediately in other comprehensive income and all other expenses related to defined beneﬁt plans in employee
benefit expenses in profit or loss. :

The calculation of the defined benefit obligations is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit
-credit method. When the calculation results in a benefit to the Company, the recognised asset it limited to the
present value of benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reduction i in future
contnbutlons and takes mto account the adverse effect of any minimum fundmg requlrements :
1
The company participates in four funded deﬁned benefit pension schemes The principal scheme the P&O
- Pension Scheme (the "P&O UK Scheme"), was closed to new routine members on 1 January 2002. The assets of
the scheme are managed on behalf of the trustee by an independent fund manager. The company also
participates in the Merchant Navy Officers' Pension Fund (the "MINOPF Scheme"), an industry wide scheme,
. -the Merchant Navy Ratings Pension Fund (the "MNRPF Scheme") and the P&O Irish Pension Scheme. The
company also makes contrlbutlons to various industry schemes whxch have assets in separately administered
funds.

As there is no contractual agreemeni or stated group policy for charging the net defined benefit cost of the plan
to participating entities, the net defined benefit cost of the pension plan is recognised fully by the sponsoring ‘
employer whlch is the Company The Company then recogmses a cost equal to its contrlbutlon payable for the
period. ‘ . .
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2 . Accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Initial recognition

" Financial assets and financial liabilities comprise all assets and llabrlrtres reflected in the balance sheet, although

excluding tangible assets, investment properties, 1ntang1ble assets, deferred tax assets, prepayments deferred tax
liabilities and employee benefits plan.

"The company recognises financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position when, and

only when, the company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. Financial liabilitiés ar¢ initially recognised at fair value,
representing the proceeds received net of premiums, drscounts and transaction costs that are directly attrlbutable
to the financial liability. : . .

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets and financial liabilities classified as fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date on which the company commits to
purchase or sell the financial assets or financial liabilities. All regular way purchases and sales of other financial
assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the settlement date, i.e. the date on which the asset or liability is
received from or delivered to the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in
the market place. '

'

) Subsequent to initial measurement, fi nancral assets and financial liabilities are measured at either amortrsed cost

or fair value

Classification and measurement
Financial instruments are classified at inception into one of the following categories, which then determine the

-subsequent measurement methodology:-

Financial assets are classrﬁed into one of the following three categorres -
- financial assets at amortised cost;
- financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) or

, ﬁnancral assets at fair value through the proﬁt or-loss (FVTPL).

Financial liabilities are classified into one of the .following two categories:;
- financial liabilities at amortised cost; or
- financial liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss' (FVTPL).

The classification and the basis for measurement are subject to the company’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow-characteristics of the financial assets, as detailed below:- ’
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2 Accounting policies (continued). -

Financial assets at amortised cost : :
A ﬁnanmal asset is measured at amortised cost 1f it meets both of the followmg conditions and is not desngnated

as at FVTPL:-

- the assets are held within a busmess model whose objective is’ s'to hold assets in'order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial assets glve rise on specnﬁed dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstandmg

If either of the above two criteria is not mef, the financial assets are classified and measuréd at fa1r value through
the profit or loss (F VTPL) :

- If a financial asset meets the amortised cost criteria, the company may choose to designate the ﬁnancnal asset at
FVTPL. Such an election is irrevocable and applicable only if the FVTPL classification SIgmﬁcantly reduces a -
measurement or recognition 1ncon51stency .

- Flnancml liabilities at amortised cost .
All financial liabilities, other than those classified as ﬁnancnal liabilities at FVTPL, are measured at amortised
cost using the effectlve interest rate method
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2 . Accounting policies (cdntinued) ‘
Derecognition

Financial assets

.The company derecognises a financial asset when;

- the contractual rights to the cash flows from the fmancxal asset expire,

- it transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in Wthh substantlally all of the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred; or

- the company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownershlp and it does not
retain control of the financial asset :

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the sum of the
‘consideration received is recognised as a gain or loss in the proﬁt or loss.

Any cumulatlve gain or loss recognised in OCI in'respect of equity.investment securities des1gnated as FVTOCI

is not recognised in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets
~ that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the company is recognised as a separate asset or

Ilablhty - . .

“The company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial
position, but retains either all or substantially all of risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of
them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

"~ When the company derecognises transferred financial assets in their entirety, but has continuing involvement in .
them then the entity should disclose for each type of continuing involvement at the reporting date:

(a) The carrying amount of the assets and liabilities that are recognised in the entity’s statement of financial
posmon and represent the entity’s continuing involvement in the derécognised ﬂnanmal assets, and the line
items in which those assets and liabilities are recogmsed :

(b) The fair’ value of the assets and liabilities that represent the entlty s continuing involvement in the
derecogmsed financial assets. . . .

(c) The amount that best represents the entity’s maximum exposure to loss from its continuing involvement in
the derecognised financial assets, and how the'maximum exposure to loss is détermined.

© (d) The undiscounted cash outflows that woﬁld or may be required to repurchase the derecognised financial
assets or other amounts payable to the transferee for the transferred assets.

Financial liabilities

‘The company derecogmses a financial liability when its contractual obllgatlons are dlscharged cancelled, or
expire. :
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e
2" Accounting policies (continued) -
Modification of _ﬁnanciai assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the cz)mpany evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified
asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to expire. In this case the original financial asset is

" derecognised and a new ﬁnancial asset is'recognised at‘either amortised cost or fair value. :

If the cash ﬂows are not substantially different, then the modification does not result in derecognition of the
financial-asset. In this case, the company recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and -

. recognises the amount arising from adjustmg the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in the
statement of income.

- Fi inancial liabilities

If the terms of a financial liabilities are modified, the company evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified
‘asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially.different, then the contractual obligations
from the cash flows from the original financial liabilities are deemed to expire. In this case the original financial
liabilities are derecognised and new financial liabilities are recognised at either amortised cost or fair value.

If the cash flows are not substantially different, then the modification does not result in derecognition of the
financial liabilities. In this case, the company recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial liabilities
and recognises the amount arlsmg from adjusting the gross carrymg amount as a modification gain or loss in the
statement of income. . B o ‘
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

. Impairment of financial assets

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses

The company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on financial mstruments that are-not
. measured at FVTPL, namely:

" -F inancial assets that are debt instruments
- Accounts and other receivables )
- Financial guarantee contracts issued; and
- Loan c0mmitments issued.

The company classifies its ﬁnanc1a1 instruments into stage 1, stage 2 and stage 3, based on the applled
-impairment methodology, as described below: -

Stage 1: for financial instruments where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and that are not credit-impaired on orlgmatlon the company recognises an allowance based on the
12-month ECL. - ’

Stage 2: for financial instruments where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but they are not credit-impaired, the company recognises an allowance for the lifetime ECL.

Stage 3: for credit-impaired ﬁnancial'inst'ruments the company recognises the lifetime ECL.

The tompany measures loss a]lowances at an amount equal to the llfetlme ECL except for the following, for
wh1ch they are measured as a 12-month ECL:

- debt securities that are determmed to have a low credit risk (equlvalent to investment grade ratmg) at the
reporting date; and :

- other financial instruments on which the credit risk has not mcreased 51gmf cantly since their initial
recogmtlon :

The company con51ders a debt security to have low credit risk when their credlt risk ratmg is equlvalent to the
globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

Al2- month ECL is the portion of the ECL that resu]ts from default events ona ﬁnanual instrument that are .
probable w1th1n 12 months from the reportmg date. :

Provisions for credit-impairment are recognised in the statement of income and are reflected in accumulated
provision balances against each relevant financial instruments balance. :

Evidence that the financial asset is credit-impaired' include the following;

- Slgmﬁcant financial difficulties of the-borrower or issuer;
- A breach of contract such as default or past due event; :

- The restructuring of the loan or advance by the company on terms that the company would not consnder
otherwise;

- - It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation,
- The disappearance of an active market for the security because of financial difficulties; or
- There is other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of -
borrowers or issuers in the company, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the company.
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2 Accountmg policies (contmued)

For trade receivables, the company applies the simplified approach whrch requrres expected lifetime. ]osses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. :

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and have

 substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts.- The company

has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the
loss rates for the contract assets.

‘

_ Accounting estimates.and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requrres management to make estimates and assumptrons that affect
the reported amounts of certain financial assets, liabilities, income and expenses

The use of estimates and assumptions is principally limited to the determlnatlon of prov1srons for impairment
and the valuation of financial instruments. : .

Provisions for |mpalrment

In determining impairment of financial assets, Judgement is required in the estimation of the amount and timing
- of future cash flows as well as an assessment of whether the credit risk on the financial asset has increased

significantly since initial recognition and incorporation of forward -looking information in the measurement of

ECL.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities A - -
Where the fair-value of financial assets and liabilities cannot be derived from active markets, they are

. determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input to

these models is derived from observable markets whére available, but where this-is not feasible, a degree of
judgement is required in determining assumptions used in the models. Changes in assumptions used in the -

. models could affect the reported fair value of financial assets and liabilities.
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to fhe Financial Statements for the Year Ehded}31 December 2022 (continued)

3 Turnover

The analysfs of the company's turnover for the year from continuing operations is as follows: -

2022 2021
o o ‘ i “£000 £000.
- Logistics and Transportation Services 507,630 448,485
- Management fee revenue 1,113 897
Total turnover - 503,743 449,382
Turnover can be analysed, by geographical market, as follows: 4
‘ ‘ ' 2022 2021
. £000 £ 000
" United Kingdom 137,410 - 117,934
Continental Europe 371,333 . 331,448
" Total turnover 508,743 449,382
Turnover can be analysed by business uﬁit, as follows:
' ' 2022 2021
~ £000 £000
. Logistics 242,152 -
Contract Logistics - 134,780
Freight Management . - 84,629
Trailers "102,243. 90,889
Intermodal 164,348 139,084 -
Total turnover 508,743 449,382

2

.In 2022, Contract Légistics and-Freight management business units have been combined to form Logistics.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

4. Operating profit/(loss) T
Arrived at after charging/(crediting): '
' ‘ 2022 - 2021

: A P N . ' £000 . £000
Auditor's remuneration : T S . 144 g 137
Depreciation expense _ S : S 3,452 : 3,141
"Operating lease expense - property R : : 505 - 538

. Operating lease expense - plant and machinery 5,898 4,929
Depreciation on right of use assets LT - 5,163 . 7,313
5 Interest receivable and similar income

C 2022 2021
_ £000 £000
Interest income on bank deposits : , . ’ 38 - 3
Other finance income - . . - . N 59 : -
-~ Interest receivable and similar qhérges total ‘ .97 : .3
6 Interest payable and similar expenses .
g 2022 2021
, ‘ £000 .~ £000
Interest on bank overdrafts and borrowings o o 35 37
Interest on obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts - ' 484 » 675
Foreign-exchange losses . _ ) . - : 72
Other finance costs ' . ) - 30
Interest payable and similar _éXpenses total . - 519 : . 814
) Y ,

"~ 7 Staff costs
The aggregate payroll costs (including directors' remuneration) were as follows:

’ ' i 2022 2021
L : , . £000 . - £000
Wages and salaries : e o 17342 15,868
Social security costs . ' ' C 02,3597 2,195
Pension costs, defined contrlbutlon scheme . - 1,002 983
Staffcoststotal - . ' 20,703 19,046
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

7 Staff costs (continued)

The average number of persons employed by the company (including- d1rectors) durmg the year, analysed by

category was as follows

2022 2021
: No. No. .
Operations o . . ’ T 226 208
Administration and support B . © 130 146
Management . o ‘ , .20 21
Sales . S o ' ' A 10 13
Other departments . ’ : 53 55
Staff costs total ’ . ' C o 439 - 443
8 Directors' remuneratlon
The dlI'CCtOI'S remuneration for the’ year was as follows
' 2022 2021
. - £000 " £000
Remuneration ' . : ‘ 334 582
During the year the number of directors who were receiving benefits and share incentives was as follows:
2022 2021
No. No.
Accruing benefits under money purchase pension scheme ' - : 1 6
In respect of the llighest paid director: ‘ ‘
2022 ©2021
£ 000 £000 -
Remuneration o c. . 165 159
Company contributions to money purchase pension schemes . . 22 22
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

9 . Income tax

Tax charged / (creditéd) in the profit and loss account

Current taxation _

UK corporation tax

Fo‘reign tax

Foreign tax adjustment to bfior periods

2021

Total current income tax

. Deferred taxation
Arising from origination and reversal of temporary differences

Tax expense/(receipt) in the profit and loss account

2022
£ 000 £ 000
394 -
1,549 22
- (36)
1,549 (14) -
1,943 - (14)
790 (258)
2,733
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited
- yn "

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

9 Income tax (continued)

The tax on profit before tax for the'year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (2021: the
charge for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK) of 19% (2021: 19%).

The differences are reconciled below: .
2022 : 2021

. _ £ 000 © £000
Profit/(loss) before tax . ' 11,147 (874)
Corporation tax at standard rate ' - 2,118 : (166)
Fixed asset differences . - . (28) 7
Expenses not-deductible for tax purposes ‘ - . S5 23 ' 16
Amounts credited / (charged) dlrectly to equity or otherwise transferred - v
pension schemes : . (155) 760
Other permanent differences . : ‘ 14 : 21
‘Forelgn tax credits __— ‘ , . ’ " 635 . 22
Deferred tax charged dlrectly to equ1ty o - 141 - (1,035)
Adjust closing deferred tax to average rate-of 19% ‘ - 440 -

. Adjust opening deferred tax to average rate of 19% o o (284) 250
Increase from tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recoghised _ . S (65)
Decrease from group relief claimed ~ : A (1o1) -
Decrease in current tax from unrecogmsed temporary dlfference from a o
prior period , ‘ (70) - (36)
Decrease from changes in tax provisions due to legislation - - (46)
Total tax charge/(credlt) _ S - 2,733 ) (272)

The tax on profit reflects the standard rate of corporation tax in. the UK (2021 - hlgher than the standard rate of
corporatlon tax in the UK) of 19. OO% (2021 - 19.00%). .
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P&O F'errymAasters _Limitedh

" Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

9 Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax movement during the year: -

- Recognised in

Page 52

o ' other ‘At
At 1 January - Recognised in - comprehensive 31 December
2022 income " income . 2022
£000 £000 £000 £000
" Acceleratéd tax depreciation ©(1,256) . (136) _ - -(1,392)
Pension benefit obligations. (482) 1,042 (541) 19
Tax losses carry-forwards’ o 697 (614) D 83
‘ ' ' ’ (1,041) - 292 (541) " (1,290)
Deferred ta>‘(. movément during the prior yeér: '
' s ' ‘Recognised in o
S . -other At
At 1 January. Recognised in  comprehensive 31 December
: - 2021 income income 2021
o £000 £ 000 £ 000 .£000
'Accel_eratéd tax depreciation 921 (335) S - .. (1,256)
_Pension benefit obligations = - S 464 89 (1,035) (482)
Tax-losses carry-forwards ’ ' 194 503 , - 697
' ' ' - (263) 257 (1,035)
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

‘Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (confinued) '

10 Rjgﬁt of use assét's

_Other

Total

Property.
£000 - £000 £ 000
Cost or valuation o ' _
" At 1 January 2022 - _ 22,905 12,812 - . 35717
© Additions ‘ . L B , - 329 707 1,036
At31December2022 U 23234 13,519 36,753
Depreclatlon ' . ' ‘ g
* At 1 January 2022 I o 8,927 9,214 18,141
" Charge for the year : ' : 2,993 2,170 - - 5,163
* Eliminated on disposal : _ 1,780 114 1,894
At 31 December 2022 ‘ L 13,700 11,498 25,198
Carrying amm‘mt‘ . . ' o
. At31 December 2022 ' o 9,534 2,021

’ P&O Ferrymasters Limited have applled IFRS16 from 1 January 2018 and at this date the lease llablllty

equalled the right of use asset at £17,893,000.
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11 Property, plant and equipment’ ,
o Land and Furniture, fittings = Other tangible A

buildings. and equipment - . assets Total
£000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000
Cost or valuation . .. ‘ : A , . . ‘
At1January 2022 2843 3,776 25,111 - 31,730
© Additions _ . : 60 o TI8. 482 1,260
. Disposals , - (89) _(2713) (14 (576)
At 31 December 2022 2814 a1 25379 32,414
Depreciation . ' v ' . ‘ ‘ o
) AtllJanuary 2022 . - S 1,096 2377 7,759 - 11,232
Charge for the year o - 35 673 , 2,423 3,452
Eliminated on-disposal ~ . : @) (269) . (123) - . (413)
. At 31 December 2022 ‘ 1,431 L 2,781 . 10,059 - 4271
- Carrying amount _ ' o - -
At 31 December 2022 ' 1383 1,440 . 15320 18,143
At 31 December 2021 S 1747 1399 17,352 . - - 20,498

Expehdituré recognised in the carrying amount of property, plant ahd equipment in the course of A

construction . ‘ .

' 2022 2021
o - o £000 £000.

Assets in the course of construction - containers/trailers S .16 : 2,256 ‘
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'Notes to the F inancial Statements for the Yeér Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

12 Intangible assets

. Goodwil
£000
Cost or valuation , , ' - :
At1January 2022 . g ' o 1,560
At 31 Decémbef2022 ’ C . A . | _ 1,560
Amortisation _ | o : o | ‘
At 1 January 2022 T | , ) 1,560
At 31 December 2022 . L ' o . R Co .1,560. '
Carrying amount . ' ' ‘ | .
At31December2022 . R o .
13 Investments
' £ 000
Cost or valuation : - .
At 1 January 2022 . . : L 26
At31 December 2022 - - . A ' ‘ 26,
| ‘Czirrying‘amount . . ,
At 31 December 2022 B o B 26
At 31 December 2021 ' : i ' o ' o | 26

P&O Ferrymasters Limited owns 5% in P&O Ferrymasters - SRL (Romama) which is valiied af a cost of £173.
The other 95% is owned by P&O Ferrymasters Holdings lelted P&O Ferrymasters SRL (Romania) was
llquldated in 2023,

. The investment of £21 632 relates to 8' 142 Ordinary "B" shares in Maritime Cargo Processing Plc, registered
office is The Chapel, Maybush Lane, Felixstowe, Suffolk, [P11 7LL. 282 MCP additional shares were acquired
in 2023 for a consnderatlon of £85,446. . .

An mvestment of euro 5,000 relates to 50 shares at euro100-per share-in RX/SeaPort was purchased in March
2019. Reglstered office is located at Doverlaan 7, 8380 Zeebrugge, company number BE 0698 584.201

Page 55



DocuSign Envelope ID: 05B2AE7D-8527-43FF-B689-879A297A05A2

. P&O Ferrymesters Limited

Notes to the Fidancial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

,

14 Trade and other receivables K :
' 2022 2021

- Trade and other debtors falling due w1thm one-year . : " £000 : £000
Trade debtors ' : : ' .70,076° 59,229
Provision for 1mpairment of trade debtors - " . (76) - - an

\, Net trade debtors : ' : 70,000 ' . < 59,152

" Debtors from related parties ) o ] 19,274 ) . -
Corporation tax repayable . ) o oL - 650
A.ccrue'd_in.come ' ' o ' . 14,3'7‘4 . 21,935
Prepayments ‘ A ' , : ' 2,392 - 2,372
Other debtors R : 2957 5543 -
‘Trade and other receivable total o o C v 1 08,997 . 89,652

Trade receivables above include amounts that are past due at the end of the reporting period and which an
allowance for doubtful debts has not been recognised as the amounts are still considered recoverable and there,
* has not been a significant change in credit quallty .

15 Cash and cash equivalerlts _ .
2022 2021

. . ' . , £000 . - £000
Cash on hand - o - 2
Cash at bank - - : R { 10,775 11,490
Cash and cash equivalents total L . ' o 10,775 11,492

During the financial year, a facility is in operation through' HSBC Bank Plc where surplus balances on the
company's GBP and EUR accounts are swept daily to P&O Ferries Division Holdings Limited. To service the
* cash requirements of P& O Ferrymasters Limitéd the sweep mechanism will also sweep money from P&O
_Ferries Division Holdings Limited to the company. At the year-end, there was a £9.4m (2021: £nil) balance due-
from P&O Ferries Division Holdings Limited relating to this fac111ty, whlch is included in the account of debtors
from related parties within trade and other receivables. :
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

/-

.

16 Leases

Leases included in creditors” o
' 2022 ' 2021

3 o o - £000 £ 000
Current portion of long-term lease liabilities- 4,655 " 5,106
Long term lease liabilities - - 9,720 14,613 -
Totdl lease liabilities (undiscounted) , : - : 14375 . - 19,719

Lease liabilities maturity analysis ] . o
A maturity analysis of lease liabilities based on undiscounted gross cash flow is reported in the table below:

2022 2021
: . S - £000 ) £000
‘Less than one year : - 4,655 ' - l 5,106
2 years o o . ' 3,839 4,410
" 3years ‘ - A 1,504 3,679
" 4 years | - S . . 1,338 2,483
5years ) . o 1,089 1,164
“ Over 5 Years - - ' ' . o 1,101 - ° 2,877
Tyeas . 849 .
"Total lease liabilities (undiscounted) . : 14,375 19,719
17 Share capital.
- Allotted, called up and fully paid shares ]
: - ' 2022 - 2021
-, , No. 000 : £000 . No.000 £000
Ordinary of £1 each ' ' . 46,830 - '46,830 46,830 46,830
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

18 Obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts

Oberating leases.’
The total future value of minimum lease payments is as follows: .
' ' 2022 2021

. £ 000 © " £000
Within one year ' ' ‘ : 2,190 2,674

The majority of leases have been riow accounted for under IFRS16 but there are some leases that are for less
than one year and so are shown above.

19 Pension and other schemes ’ ' ) i

Defined contribution pension scheme
- The company. operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The pension cost charge for the year represents
T contributions payable by the company to the scheme and amounted to £1,002,000 (2021: £983,000).

Contributions totalling £158,000 (2021: £110,000) were payable to the scheme at the end of the year and are '
included in creditors.

-

Defined benefit pension schemes
P&O Irish Pension Scheme
. ) 1 .

On 31 December 2020, the P& O North Sea Ferries (Netherlands) Scheme, a collective defined contribution

scheme, closed to future accrual of benefit. Benefits within this'Scheme are provided through an insurance
_ contract and there are no further obligations for P&O with respect to this. As no obligations remain for the
Company and Group, except.for an occasional contribution related to possible individual value transfers, the
' pension plan was settled as at 31 December 2020.

The parent company P&O Femes Division Holdmgs Limited is responsible for the govemance of the plan.
There are no funding arrangements or funding policies that affect future contributions.

Contrlbutrons payable to the pension scheme at the end of the year are £Nil (2021: £Nil). The expected
contributions to the plan for the next reporting period are £Nil. No refund or reduction in future contributions
have been assumed in the calculation of these amounts and therefore no asset is recognised.

The scheme was most recently valued on 31 December 2019.

Risks

Investment risk ) : :
One of the main risks associated with the Scheme is that there will be msufﬁcrent funds in the Scheme to meet
benefit payments as they fall due. The assessment of the Scheme is dependent on the financial and demographic
assumptions made. Experience will determine the agtual cost of providing the benefit and to the extent that '
experience differs from these assumptions, the cost to the Employer of providing benefits may be hrgher than
expected .

Page 58



DocuSign Envelope ID: 05B2AE7D-8527-43FF-B689-879A297A05A2

P&O Ferrymasters Limited

| Notes to the Financial Statements for the_Year'Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)
Reconciliation of scheme assets and liabilities to assets and liabilities recognised
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

7

Fair value of scheme assets
Present value of scheme liabilities

2022

2021

Defined be’neﬁt'penéion scheme surplus .

Scheme assets

' Changes in the fair value of 'scheme assets are as follows:

Fair value at start of year .

Interest income 4

Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income
Foreign exchange differences -

Employer contributions )
- Contributions by scheme-participants

Benefits paid

Change in overall share

£ 000 “£000
6,565 7,890

~ (5,036) (6,785)
1,529 1,105 -
2022 2021.
'£000 £ 000
7,890 8,143
92 43
(1,736) 312
375 (597) -
62 110

- 1

(184) (139)
66 Y
16,565 7,890

Fairvalue at end of year
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 Décember 2022 (co'ntin‘ued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Analysis of assets

The major categories of scheme assets are as follows:

2022

2021

_— , _ - £000 £ 000

Equity instruments 2,068 2,486
Bonds - : : T 3,289 3,953
Other - 1 S 3 - 1,208 ‘1,451

6,565

7,890

. Actual return on scheme's assets

.The pension scheme has not invested in any. of the company's own' ﬁnanmal instruments or in propemes or other

_assets used by the company

" Scheme liabilities

- Changes in the present value of scheme liabilities are as follows:

2021

2022
L : . £000 £ 000
Present value at start of year . - : 6,785 8,103
* Current service cost - : : 4 ’ . - 6
Actuarial losses arising from changes in firiancial assumptlons . o (1,928) (638)
Actuarial losses arising from experience adjustments . S 4 (63) . (19)
Overall change in share , . ' : - 48 . (563)
Interest cost - . ) ' . 78 42
Benefits paid . . " : N (184) (139)
. Contributions by scheme participants ' - 1
" Exchange adjustments . , ' ' - 300 -
Employer contributions ) o o - (6))
_Present value at end of year ' X . i 5,036. 6,785

Page 60



. ‘DocuSign Envelope 1D: 0582AE7D-85_27—43FF-8689-879A297A05A2

P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements fof the Year End‘ed 31 December 2022 (continued)

1

19 Pension and other schemes (continued) -

Principal actuarial assumptions -

, The SIgmﬁcant actuarial assumptions used to determme the present value of the defined beneﬂt obllgatlon at the
‘balance sheet date are as follows ‘ . -

2022 2021

_ | % %

. Discount rate o . ‘ 3.70 I S £
Revaluation of benefits in service ‘ : : 2.60 . 1.90
Future pension increases - payment - ' . 130 ' 0.95

Inflation L A A ‘ 2.60 1.90
Post retirement-mortality assumptions A '

At 31 December 2022 we have used mon;tallty assurﬁptlons for current and future pensioners based on standard
mortality tables allowing for future mortality improvements. The life expectanc1es from age 65 for sample ages,
as derived from these updated mortality assumptions, would be as follows (31 December 2021 life expectancies

‘also provided for comparison): i : _ -
: 2022 o2 2021
Life expectancy at age 65 (in years) . . Years : Years
Male, now aged 45 . ' o . 2 22
Female, now aged 45 -~ ) o : 24 24
- Male, now aged 65 o o _ ‘ 24 24

Female, now aged 65 ) : ' 26 - 26
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19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Amounts recognised in the income statement

2022 2021

- £000 £.000

AmOunxts reco‘gnised‘in operating profit ' . '
Current service cost ) ) S o o S - N 6

- Amounts fecogniSed in finance incdme or costs L .

_Net interest ] N o o ' [ (-
Total recognised in the profit and loss account . - - (14) _ 5
Amounts taken to the Statement of Other Compreizensive Income o

' B ‘ 2022 12021
o . £.000 - £000
Actuarial gains arising from changes in ﬁnancial'a'ssumptions (1,880)' . (646)
Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments ) ' ' (63) : (19)
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income -~ 1,670 (329)
Exchange rate movements | : - (15 . 34
Amounts recognised in the Statement of Other Conﬁprehensive Income ) (348) . (960)
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- Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 '(continued)'

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)
MNOPF

The MNOPF Scheme is a defined benefit final salary multi-employer scheme in which officers employed by the =
Company have participated. This is a Career Average Related Earnings (CARE) scheme. The Scheme is divided
into two sections, the Old Section and the New Section both of which are closed to defined benefit accrual on 31
March 2016. The assets and liabilities are jointly owned by all participating employers and the outstandmg
scheme deficit is jointly and severally held amongst all employers, including the Company.

The Plan is governed by the Trustees and in accordance with the Trust Deed and Rules. The Trustees are
appointed under the Trust Deed and Rules and there are currently two corporate trustees.

The parent company P&O Ferries Division Holdmgs Limited is responsnble for the governance ofthe plan
There are no amendments, ‘curtailments or settlements.

Agreements were reached in 2019-with the Trustees of the MNOPF regarding deficit contributions. The amount
disclosed as a minimum funding liability for the MNOPF scheme is based on’ the Deficit Share Notices 1ssued
by the Trustees and payments set out in the respectwe contribution agreements.

" Contributions payable to the pension scheme at the end of the year are £Nil (2021 £Nil). The expected
‘contributions to the plan for the next reporting period are £Nil. No refunds or reductions in future contrlbutlons .
have been assumed in the calculation of these amounts and therefore no asset is recognised.

The scheme was most’ recently valued on 31 March 20,18.

‘Risks

Investment risk : :

One of the main risks assoc1ated w1th the Scheme is that there will be insufficient funds in the Scheme to meet
benefit payments as they fall due. The assessment of the Scheme is dependent on the financial and demographic
assumptions made. Experience will determine the actual cost of providing the benefit and to the extent that
experience differs from these assumptions, the cost to the Employer of providing benefits may be higher than
expected

Reconciliation of scheme assets and liabilities to assets and liabilities recognised
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: -
o 2022 2021

, _ , . £000 £ 000

Fair value of scheme assets . ' 4,916, 6,835

" Present value of scheme liabilities - . ' (4,385) . (6,301).
C ' o o ' 531 S .. 534
Effect of asset ceiling ) e : L (527) . \ (534
Defined benefit pension scheme surplus S : 4 L
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' P&O Férrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Scheme assets

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:

2022 2021
» , A ~ £000 £000 -
Fair value at start ofyear : C : ' o ’ 6,835 7,542
Interest income R 127 93
Return on plan assets; excluding amounts mcluded in mterest income . o (1,625) -
Employer contributions . o L - (447)
Benefits paid - . : ) (356)' - (356)
Administrative expenses paid ‘ ' . (13) ©(13)
~ Change in‘overall share 4 o . (52) 16
Fair value at end of year - - , - S L . 4916 6,835
Analysis of assets
 The major categories of scheme assets ére as follows: .
2022 2021
‘ _ £ 000 - £000
* Equity instruments . L R ‘ - 929 1,459 .
Bonds - ‘ a ' - 3,987 5,376
Assettotal . . - S ' . 4916 6,835 -

The pension scheme has not mvested in any of the company 's own ﬁnanmal 1nstruments orin propertles or other

assets used by the company
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
19 Pension _and other schemes (continued) N
Scheme liabilities

Changeé in the 'present value of scheme liabilities are as follows: .
‘ ’ . 2022 2021

o _ . , £000 . - - £000
Present value at start of year ‘ o o 6,301 6,990
Actuarial gains arising from changes in demographic assumptions ‘ ‘ ' 77 -
Actuarial losses arising from changes in financial assumptions ~~ ~ - (1,700) ‘ (381)
Actuarial losses arising from experlence adjustments S ’ . - (38)
Overall change in share . (5% -

-Interest cost - : ‘ o o . 117 86
Benefits paid . : - : ' (356) (356)
. Present value at end of year ' 4,385 B 6,301
Effect of asset ceiling - - _
A reconciliation of the effect of the asset eeiling is as follows: ‘
B 2022 2021
: : £000 £ 000
‘Opening balance - ' . . (534) - £ (552)
Interest cost: R . L aoy - (7 -
Changes in asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in interest . A 17 25
Closing balance . . : : . : B (527) _ (534)

-Principal actuarial assumptlons .

'The significant actuarial assumptlons used to determine the present value of thé deﬁned beneﬁt obllgatlon at the’
balance sheet date are as follows: :

2022 : 2021

: : % _ %

Discount rate : ' - : a 4.85 3.70

Revaluation of benefits in service . C 2.45 » 4.20
Future pension increases - deferment S . . © o 3.00 . 220

Inflation - o o 305 3.20

The assumptioné relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the statement of financial position -
" date are based on 85% of SAPS tables with adjustments to reflect historical scheme experience. The future
improvements are in line with CMI 2014 projections with a long-term improvement rate of 1.8% p.a.
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P_&O Ferrymasters Limited

. Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
19 .Pensio'l"l and other schemes (continued)

Amounts recognised in the income statement

2022 2021

£000 £000
Amounts recognised in operating profit _ A
Administrative expenses paid 4 : L - 13 . 13
Amounts recognised in finance income or costs ] .
~Net interest o : o ' : - [6))]
Total recogqised in the income statement A ' 13 12
Amoimts taken to the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income . .
o 2022 ' 2021
4 _ o £ 000 . £ 00(0
Actuarial gains arising from changes in demographic assumptions a 77, -
Actuarial gains afisihg from changes in financial assumptions . - (1,759) ) © (381)
Actllxarié'l gains arising from experience adjustments . - (38)
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in intérest income. B 1,676 431
Y Change in irrecoverable surplus o S ‘ YY) ) : (25).
. Amounts recognised in the Statement of Other Compre_hensive Income Ay » (13)
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year E'nded 31 December 2022 (continued)
19 Pension and other schemes (contihued) )

Sensitivity analysis
The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the asSumptiohs set out above.

Sensitivity is only considered for the P&O Ferries Division Holdings Limited group (the "Group"), the Company's
immediate parent undertaking. The following table summarises how the impact on the Group's defined benefit -

- obligation at the end of the reporting period would have increased / (decreased) as a result of a change in the
respective assumptlons : :

2022 ' ‘ ©2021
: , . . A +0.1% -0.1% - -0.1%
~ Adjustment to discount rate B ' £000 £000 £ 000
Present value of total obligation N o 2,000 - . 2,000
2022 2021 .

» : ‘ . : . L 401% +0.1%
“Adjustment to rate of inflation . o £000 £000
Present value of total obligation = ) ‘ . 800 . 800

2022 2021
: o e ~+1Year +1 Year
Adjustment to mortality age rating assumption - ‘ - £000 £000°
Present value of total obligation R _ © . 1,500 . 1,500

The above sensitivities are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the
last full actuarial valuation at 31 March 2018 and are applied to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the end of
the reporting period for the assumptions concerned. Whilst the analysis does not take account of the full
distribution of .cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation to the sensmv1ty of the :
assumptions shown. . :
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¢ P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial:Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

19 Pension.and other schemes'(continued)
P&O UK Defined Benefit Pension Scheme

The P&O Ferries Division 2008 Pension scheme (the "P&O Ferries UK Scheme"), a Career Average Related
Earnings (CARE) scheme, is closed to new members It is a company sponsored funded defined benefit pension

scheme.

The assets of the scheme are managed on behalf of the trustee by mdependent fund managers.
The benefits under the Scheme are contamed in the Trust Deed and Rules of the Scheme dated 28 March 2008

and subsequent amendments.

The parent company P&O Ferries Division Holdmgs L1m1ted is responsrble for the govemance of the plan.

There are no amendments, curtailments or settlements

Agreements were reached in 2019 with the Trustees of the P&O F erries UK Scheme regardmg deﬁc1t

contributions. .

Contributions payable to the pension scheme at the end of the year are £Nil (2021 : £Nil). AThe expected

\

contributions to the plan for the next reporting period are £Nil. No refunds or reductions in future contrlbutlons
have been assumed in the calculation of these amounts and therefore no asset is recognised. :

The scheme was most recently valued on 1 Aprll 2020. . N

Risks

Investment risk

One of the main risks associated with the Scheme is that there will be msufﬁcrent funds in the Scheme to meet .
benefit payments as they fall due. The assessment of the Scheme is dependent on the financial and demographic
assumptions made. Experience will determine the actual cost of providing the benefit and to the extent that
experience differs from these assumptions, the cost to the Employer of providing benefits may be higher than

expected. -

Reconcﬂlatlon of scheme assets and liabilities to assets and llabllmes recognised

The amounts recogmsed in the balance sheet are as follows: -.

Fair value of scheme assets
Present value of scheme liabilities

2021

- Defined benefit pension scheme (deficit)/surplus

2022
£000 £000
17,390 30,490

(18,260) (29,260)
(870) 1,230
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P&O Ferrymasters Lirhited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Yean? Ended 31 December 2022 (continued) |

19 Pension and othef schemes (continued)

Scheme assets
" Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows: .
‘ 2022 . 2021 -

: : £000 £000.
Fair. value at start of year - . ‘ ' 30,490 . 29,470
Interest income ’ - SRR 600 A 360
" Return on plan assets excluding amounts mcluded in mterest mcome i 4 (13,100) . 1,510'
Employer contributions : : o 200 120
Benefits paid o B _ ' (700) . (920)'
Administrative expenses paid . . TR (100) ' (50)
Fair value at end of year S : ‘ 17,390 '30,490
Analysis of assets
A The major categories of scheme assets are as follows: o
S 2022 2021
. . . v £000 £ 000
Equity instruments . IR - 5,456 ‘ ’8,848
Bonds - - : , . 3,885 " 5,921
" Other ' S o - T 8049 15,721
Total - R : 17,390 - - 30,490

. Actual return on scheme's assets

The pension scheme has not mvested in any of the company's own financial mstruments orin propertles or other
assets used by the company.
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 Decembeér 2022 (continued) -

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Scheme liabilities
Changes in the present value of scheme hablhtles are as follows: o .
‘ ' . 2022 2021

: ‘ . £ 000 £000

Present value at start of year ' L : . 29260 © 31,540
Actuarial gains arising from changes in demographic assumptions ‘ ‘ '(300) . (70)
~ Actuarial lesses arising from changes in financial assumptions (12,500) - - (1,400)
Actuarial losses arising from experience adJustments 1,900 ' (280)‘
Interest cost - ' o - 600 : 390
Benefits paid - ' ‘ ' _ : (700) (920)
Present value at end of year ' L ' . ' 18,260 . 29,260

Principal actuarial assumptions

The significant actuarial assumptions used to determine the present value of the defined benefit obhgatlon atthe .
balance sheet date are as follows:

2022 2021

| e %
Discount rate - ‘ ‘ o - 4.80 3.70
Future pension increases - payment ' . o 3.00 . 2.8b
Inflation . . 3.00 ©.320
Future pension increases - deferment ' : ' ‘ 3.00 ' ~ 290

" The assumptions relatmg to longevity underlymg the pension liabilities at the statement of financial pos1tlon
date are based on SAPS tables with a -1 age rating and future 1mprovements in line w1th CMI 2017 projections
- -with a long-term improvement rate of 1.5%.
’ . . ~
_ Post retirement mortality assumptions ' ‘

2022 2021

Years . Years

" Male aged 65 now . ' o 23 23

Female aged 65 now ’ o . ' : 25 25
Male aged 65 in 20 years' time : A , o L o4 25

. Female aged 65 in 20 years' time C ‘ 27 . 27 .
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P&O Ferrymasters Limited'

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
19 Pension and other schemes (continued) -

Amounts recognised in the income statement- _
' 2022 " 2021

£000 £000
Amounts recognised in operating proﬁf '
. ‘Current service cost . . ’ - . A . © 110
- Administrative expenses paid : : . . E 100 50
. Recdgnised in arriving at operating profit S S 100 . - 160 . -
Amounts recognised in finance income or costs ‘ _ . .
Net-interest 4 : . I . - 30
Total recognised in the income statement - , . B - 100 _ 190
P Arﬁaunts taken to the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income.
' ' ' - 2022 2021
. , ' . £000 “£000
Actuarial gains arising from changes in demographic assumptions . * S (< 1¢11) I ¢40)]
Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions ‘ . (12,500) - (1,400) -
Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments . © 1,900 S (280)
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest income 13,100 (1,510) .
Amounts recognised in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 2,200 (3,260)

Page 71



) . ‘
DocuSign E'nvglbpe ID: 05B2AE7D-8527-43FF-B689-879A297A05A2

P&O Ferrymasters Limited o

Notes to the Financial St’afements for the Y_ear Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
19. Pension and other schemes (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions set out above.

‘Sensitivity is only considered for the P&O Ferries Division Holdings Limited group (the "Group"), the -
Company's immediate _parent undertaking. The following table summarises how the impact on the Group's
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have mcreased/(decreased) as aresult ofa
change in the respectlve assumptions: ) . . o, :

2002 2021,

S o . v -01% -0.1%

Adjustment to discount rate . o ' : - £000 £ 000

Present value of total obligation o ‘ B ' _ 4,500 4,500
o 2022 2021

A e +01% . +0.1%

. Adjustment to rate of inflation o R £000 £ 000

" Present value of total obligation -~ . L : : 3,100 3,100
2022 - 2021

: : S "~ +1 Year " +1 Year

' Adjustment to mortallty age rating assumptlon o - £000 - £000

Present value of total obligation - : o 2,300 2,300

The above sensitivities are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the
" last full actuarial valuation at 1 April 2020 and are applied to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the end of
* the reporting -period for the assumptions concerned. Whilst the -analysis does not take account of the fu]l'
distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does prov1de an approxnmatlon to the sensitivity of the
assumptions shown. ,
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" Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continned)

’

~ 19 Pension and other schemes (continued)
'MNRPF ' '

The MNRPF Scheme is an industry wide multi-employer benefit final salary pension scheme in which sea staff
employed by the company have participated. This is a Career Average Related Earnings (CARE) scheme.- The
scheme has significant funding deficit and has been closed to further benefits accrual since 2001. The assets and
liabilities of the scheme are jointly owned by all participating employers and the outstanding scheme deficit is
Jomtly and severally held amongst all employers, including the Company.

The Plan is governed by the Trustees and in accordance with the Trust Déed and Rules. The Trustees are
appointed under the Trust Deed and Rules and there are currently two corporate trustees.

The parent company P&Q Ferries Division Holdmgs L1m1ted is. responsnble for the govemance of the plan
There. are no amendments, curtailments or settlements.

Agreements were reached in 2019 with the Trustees of the MNRPF regarding deﬁmt contributions. The amount
disclosed as a minimum funding Ilablhty for the MNRPF scheme is based on the Deﬁcn Share Notices issued
by the Trustees and payments set out in the respectlve contribution agreements.

Contributions payable to the pensnon scheme at the end of the year are £Nil (2021 - £Nil). The expected
contributions to the plan for the next reporting period are £Nil. No refunds or reductions in future contrlbutlons
have been assumed in the calculation of these amounts therefore no asset is recogmsed

‘The scheme was most recently valued on 1 April 2017.

Risks

Investment risk

-One.of the main risks associated with the Scheme is that there will be insuffi cient funds in the Scheme to meet
" benefit payments as they fall due. The assessment of the Scheme is dependent on the financial and demographic

assumptions made.-Experience will determine the actual cost of providing the benefit and to the extent that

experience differs from these assumptions, the cost to the Employer of providing benefits may be hlgher than
'expected . . i : !

Reconciliation of scheme assets and llabllltles to assets and llabllmes recognised
The amounts recogmsed in the balance sheet are as follows: , :
‘ 2022 - 2021

. ‘ £000 £000
Fair value of scheme assets S ' 1,266 - 776
‘Present value of scheme liabilities . . : . : (1,454) ‘ ' ‘(886).

- Co C N ass) - (110) -
Effect of asset ceiling -~ . S : (389) (168)
- Defined benefit pension scher_ne deficit ) ’ (5T (278)
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P&O Ferrymasters lelted

Notes to the Fmanclal Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2022 (contmued)

19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Scheme assets -
-Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows: : ‘
‘ 2022 . - 2021

. . £ 000 * £ 000
Fair value at start of year . o S 176 : 2,431
Interest in’come : ‘ . » : .14 30
‘Return on plan assets, excludmg amounts- included i in interest income B A (191) - (158)
Employer contributions , — 28 - 26
Benefitspaid =~ . ' : .' (39) L (97)
Administrative expenses paid - - e _ (14) o (28)
Change in overall share : o ' T " 6 - (1,428)
Fair value at end of year : ' S 1,266 : - 776
'Analysns of assets-
AThe major categories of scheme assets are as follows '
2022 2021
: , : . £000 - - £000
Equity instruments ) R : _ 181 . - 111
Bonds . - . : - . - 1,085 665
'Total _ a o : K 1,266 o 776

The pension scheme has not mvested in any of the company 's own ﬁnanc1al mstruments or in properties or other
. assets used by the company.
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Noté§ to the Financial Stater.nen‘ts for the:Year Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

. 19 Pension and other schemes (continued)

Scheme liabilities
Changes in the present value of scheme liabilities are as follows: .
' 2022 2021

' ‘ o S £000 £000
Present value at start of year . : h : . 886 2,297
Past service cost - o ' v 52 . -
Actuarial gains arising from changes in demographic assumptions : - ' 25
Actuarial losses arising from changes in financial assumptions - (259) ‘ "(14'2)
Actuarial losses arising from ekperience adjustments : a : - (14) (32) -
Overall change in share 4 . ' ' 812 '(1,193)
Interest cost : A R 16 <28
‘Benefits paid : ' - : . (39). X))

Present value at end of year , : o 1,454 . 886
Effect of asset éeiling
‘A.’reconciliation of the effect of the asset ceiling is as follows: )
' 2022 2021
. £000 ~ £000
Opening balance : ‘ ' o ) (168) (283)
_Interest cost - ; : o : 3y : 4)
Changes in dsset ceiling, excluding amounts included in interest . . (218) . ' 119
Closing balance : P : ‘ . (389) (168) -

Principal actuarial assumptions

The significant actuarial assumptions used to determine the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the .
balance sheet date are as follows: - _ : ‘

2022 2021

| L % %
" Discount rate - . o A 4.85 ' 3.70
- Future penéiqn increases - deferment . ' 2.45 . 220

Inflation ‘ ; ‘ . - o 3.05 3.30

Expected return on assets . - - ' ‘ . 3.00 320

The assumptions relating to longevity underlyir{g the pension liabilities at the statement of financial position
date are based on 89% of SAPS tables with adjustments to reflect historical scheme experience. The future.
improvements are in line with CMI 2013 projections with a long-term improvement rate of 1.5% p.a.
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Notes to the Fiﬂanciai Statements :f()'r"th'e Yea'._r' Ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

~

©19 Pension and other schemes (contiﬁued)'

Amounts recognised in the income statement . ‘ ,
I 2022 o 2021

- £000° £000
Amounts recoghised in operating-profit _ k
" Past 'service cost o o : A o 52 . -
Administrative expenses paid - T - : 14 28
Rec{)gnised; in arriving at operating profit . - _ , A } 66 - 28
" Amounts recognised in finance income or costs . , ; )
Net interest - ) ' : ' . . 5 N 2
Total recognised in the income statement . : 71.. - .. 30
Amounts taken to the Statement of Other Comprehehsive Income .
’ ' - L2022 - 2021
: K A . ) £000 - £000 -
~ Actuarial gains arising from changes in demographic assumptions 553 25
Actuarial gains arising from changes in financial assumptions : ' - (1,335)
Actuarial gains arising from experience adjustments . ' - . (1) : (32)
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interestincome .~ - (500) " 1,585
Irrecoverable surplus ' ‘ . g . 219 (118)-
Amounts recognised in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income . 258 . 125
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’

19 Pension and other schemes (eontinued) . - - i ' . o

N

Sensitivity analysis

". The calculation of the deﬁnedvbeneﬁt obligation is sensitive to the assumptions set out above.

Sensitivity is only considered for the P&O Ferries Division Holdings Limited group (the "Group"), the
Company's immediate parent undertaking. The following table summarises how the impact on the Group's.
defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have mcreased/(decreased) asa result of a
change in the respectlve assumptlons

2022 o 12021

' : ) +0.1% -0.1% - -01%
Adjustment to discount rate .. £000 : £000 £000 -
Present value of total obligation =~ = - . - 7,200 . : - 7,200

‘ 2022 - 2021 ‘
: C +0.1% . +0.1%
Adjustment to rate of inflation | . " : S £000 £000
. Present valie of total ob]igation : - ) . 2,500 2,500
‘ 2022 2021
: : ) +1 Year +1 Year
Adjustment to mortality age rating assumption : ‘ £000 - £ 000
~ Present value of total obligation . : 3,400 - 3,400

The above sensitivities are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the
last full actuarial valuation at 1 April 2017 and are applied to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the end of
the reporting period for the assumptions concerned. Whilst the analysis does not take account of the full
distribution of cash flows expected under the plan .it does prov1de an approximation to the sensmv1ty of the
assumptions shown.

.20 Trade anti other payablee _
' 2022 2021

. _ . » £000 £000
Trade payables S . ' 88,526 .. 87,877
Accrued expenses : : ' 5,653 ’ 5,177

- Amounts due to related parties ' o . 6,396 . 3,155
.Social security and other taxes . o 2,312 ] S 2,048 -
Outstanding defined contrlbutlon pensmn costs i . . ' 158 . 110
Other payables : o ‘ : A 4,313 2,066

Trade and other payables total : ) L, o . o 107,358 " 100,433
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" P&O Ferrymasters Limited

Notes to the Financial Stateménts for the Year Ended 31 Decembef 2022 (continued)

/

21 Parent and ultimate parent undertaking ' : - : -

The company's immediate parent is P&O Ferrymasters Holdings Limited.
The address for P&O Fenynqestere Holdings Limited is:

Wherstead Park
- Wherstead

Ipswich

Suffolk

IP9 2WG

The most senior parent entlty producmg publlcly available fmanmal statements is P&O Ferries D1v151on
‘Holdings lelted :

The ultimate controlling party is Dubai World Corporations, a company incorporatéd in Dubai. This is the
largest group of companies for which consolidated financial statements are prepared in which P&O
Ferrymasters Holdings Limited is consolidated. The statements of this Corporation are not publicly filed.
Address: Level 47, Emirates Towers, Sheikh Zayed Road, PO Box 17000, Dubai, United Arab Emirates.

~ The address for DP World Limited is:

Office 27, Level 3, Gate Village Building 4 -
Dubai International Fmanc1al Centre

PO Box 1700

Dubai

United Arab Emirates

" The ultimate parent is DP World Limited, a company incorporated in Dubai.



